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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON
NATIONAL FINANCE

LE COMITÉ SÉNATORIAL PERMANENT DES
FINANCES NATIONALES

The Honourable Lowell Murray, P.C., Chairman

The Honourable Isobel Finnerty, Deputy Chair

Président: L’honorable Lowell Murray, c.p.

Vice-présidente: L’honorable Isobel Finnerty

and et

The Honourable Senators: Les honorables sénateurs:
Banks

*Carstairs, P.C.
(or Robichaud, P.C.)

Comeau
Cools
Doody
Ferretti Barth

Hervieux-Payette, P.C.
Kinsella
Kirby
LeBreton

* Lynch-Staunton
(or Kinsella)

Mahovlich

Banks
*Carstairs, c.p.

(ou Robichaud, c.p.)
Comeau
Cools
Doody
Ferretti Barth

Hervieux-Payette, c.p.
Kinsella
Kirby
LeBreton

* Lynch-Staunton
(ou Kinsella)

Mahovlich

*Ex Officio Members *Membres d’office

(Quorum 4) (Quorum 4)

Changes in membership of the committee: Modifications de la composition du comité:

Pursuant to Rule 85(4), membership of the Committee was
amended as follows:

Conformément à l’article 85(4) du Règlement, la liste des
membres du comité est modifiée, ainsi qu’il suit:

The name of the Honourable Senator LeBreton substituted for that
of the Honourable Senator Bolduc (February 26, 2001).

Le nom de l’honorable sénateur LeBreton substitué à celui de
l’honorable sénateur Bolduc (le 26 février 2001).

The name of the Honourable Senator Comeau substituted for that of
the Honourable Senator Stratton (February 27, 2001).

Le nom de l’honorable sénateur Comeau substitué à celui de
l’honorable sénateur Stratton (le 27 février 2001).
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ORDER OF REFERENCE ORDRE DE RENVOI

Extract from the Journals of the Senate of Wednesday,
January 31, 2001:

Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 31 janvier 2001:

Second reading of Bill S-6, An Act to assist in
the prevention of wrongdoing in the Public Service by
establishing a framework for education on ethical practices in
the workplace, for dealing with allegations of wrongdoing
and for protecting whistleblowers.

Deuxième lecture du projet de loi S-6, Loi visant à
favoriser la prévention des conduites répréhensibles dans la
fonction publique en établissant un cadre pour l’éducation en
ce qui a trait aux pratiques conformes à l’éthique en milieu
de travail, le traitement des allégations de conduites
répréhensibles et la protection des dénonciateurs.

The Honourable Senator Kinsella moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Finestone, P.C., that the Bill be read a
second time.

L’honorable sénateur Kinsella propose, appuyé par
l’honorable sénateur Finestone, c.p., que le projet de loi soit
lu la deuxième fois.

After debate, Après débat,

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

The Bill was read the second time. Le projet de loi est alors lu une deuxième fois.

The Honourable Senator Kinsella moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Finestone, P.C., that the Bill be referred
to the Standing Senate Committee on National Finance, if
and when that Committee is established.

L’honorable sénateur Kinsella propose, appuyé par
l’honorable sénateur Finestone, c.p., que le projet de loi soit
renvoyé au Comité sénatorial permanent des finances
nationales, si et quand ce comité sera constitué.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,

Paul C. Bélisle

Clerk of the Senate
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS PROCÈS-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 21, 2001
(1)

OTTAWA, le mercredi 21 février 2001
(1)

[English] [Traduction]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met
at 5:06 p.m., this day, in Room 356-S, for the purpose of
organization.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, à 17 h 06, dans la pièce 356-S, pour sa séance
d’organisation.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Banks, Bolduc, Cools, Doody, Ferretti Barth, Finnerty, Kinsella,
Mahovlich, Murray, P.C. and Stratton (10).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Banks,
Bolduc, Cools, Doody, Ferretti Barth, Finnerty, Kinsella,
Mahovlich, Murray, c.p. et Stratton (10).

In attendance: Mr. Guy Beaumier, Research Officer, Library of
Parliament.

Également présent: M. Guy Beaumier, attaché de recherche,
Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate. Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Pursuant to Rule 88, the Clerk presided over the election of the
Chairman.

Conformément à l’article 88 du Règlement, le greffier procède
à l’élection du président.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Banks, that the
Honourable Senator Murray be Chairman of this committee.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Banks que l’honorable
sénateur Murray soit le président du comité.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Kinsella, that the
Honourable Senator Finnerty be Deputy Chair of this committee.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Kinsella que l’honorable
sénateur Finnerty soit la vice-présidente du comité.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Bolduc, that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be composed of the
Chairman, the Deputy Chair and one other member of the
committee, to be designated after the usual consultation; and

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Bolduc que le
Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure se compose du
président, de la vice-présidente et d’un autre membre du comité
désigné après les consultations d’usage; et

That the subcommittee be empowered to make
recommendations to the committee with respect to its
agenda, inviting witnesses, and scheduling hearings.

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé à prendre des décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, à inviter les
témoins et à établir l’horaire des audiences.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Finnerty, that the
committee print its proceedings; and

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Finnerty, que le comité
fasse imprimer des exemplaires de ses délibérations; et

That the Chair be authorized to set the number to meet
demand.

Que le président soit autorisé à ajuster cette quantité en
fonction des besoins.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Banks, that, pursuant
to Rule 89, the Chairman be authorized to hold meetings, to
receive and authorize the printing of the evidence when a quorum
is not present, provided that a member of the committee from both
the government and the opposition is present.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Banks que,
conformément à l’article 89 du Règlement, le président soit
autorisé à tenir des réunions pour entendre des témoignages et en
permettre la publication en l’absence de quorum, pourvu qu’un
représentant du gouvernement et un représentant de l’opposition
soient présents.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Banks, that, pursuant
to Rule 104, the Chairman be authorized to report expenses
incurred by the committee during the last session.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Banks que,
conformément à l’article 104 du Règlement, le président soit
autorisé à faire rapport des dépenses faites au cours de la dernière
session.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Mahovlich, that the
committee ask the Library of Parliament to assign research
officers to the committee;

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Mahovlich que le comité
demande à la Bibliothèque du Parlement d’affecter des attachés de
recherche auprès du comité;
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That the Chairman be authorized to seek authority from
the Senate to engage the services of such counsel and
technical, clerical and other personnel as may be necessary
for the purpose of the committee’s examination and
consideration of such bills, subject matters of bills and
estimates as are referred to it;

Que le président soit autorisé à demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
personnel technique, d’employés de bureau et d’autres
personnes au besoin, pour aider le comité à examiner les
projets de loi, la teneur de ces derniers et les prévisions
budgétaires qui lui sont déférés;

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedures be
authorized to retain services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à faire appel au service des experts-conseils dont le
comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

That the Chairman, on behalf of the committee, direct the
research staff in the preparation of studies, analyses,
summaries and draft reports.

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de
résumés et de projets de rapports.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Cools, that, pursuant
to section 32 of the Financial Administration Act, authority to
commit funds be conferred individually on the Chair, the Deputy
Chair and the Clerk of the committee; and

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Cools que,
conformément à l’article 32 de la Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques, l’autorisation d’engager les fonds du comité soit
conférée individuellement au président, à la vice-présidente et au
greffier du comité; et

That, pursuant to section 34 of the Financial
Administration Act, and Guideline 3:05 of Appendix II of the
Rules of the Senate, authority for certifying accounts payable
by the Committee be conferred individually on the Chair, the
Deputy Chair, and the Clerk of the Committee.

Que, conformément à l’article 34 de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques et à la directive 3:05 de l’annexe II du
Règlement du Sénat, l’autorisation d’approuver les comptes à
payer au nom du comité soit conférée individuellement au
président, à la vice-présidente et au greffier du comité.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Ferretti Barth, that the
committee empower the steering committee to designate, as
required, one or more members of the committee and/or such staff
as may be necessary to travel on assignment on behalf of the
committee; and

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Ferretti Barth que le
comité autorise le comité de direction à désigner au besoin, un ou
plusieurs membres du comité, de même que le personnel
nécessaire, qui se déplaceront au nom du comité; et

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Doody, that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be authorized to:

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Doody que le
Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit autorisé à:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is on
“official business” for the purpose of paragraph 8(3) (a) of
the Senators Attendance Policy, published in the Journals of
the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

1) déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» aux fins de l’alinéa 8(3)a) de la
politique relative à la présence des sénateurs, publiée dans les
journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

2) consider any member of the committee to be on “official
business” if that member is a) attending a function, event or
meeting related to the work of the committee; or b) making a
presentation related to the work of the committee.

2) considérer qu’un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» si ce membre a) assiste à une
réception, à une activité ou à une réunion se rapportant aux
travaux du comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait aux
travaux du comité.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Bolduc, that, pursuant
to the Senate guidelines for witnesses expenses, the committee
may reimburse reasonable travelling and living expenses for one
witness from any one organization and payment will take place
upon application, but that the Chairman be authorized to approve
expenses for a second witness should there be exceptional
circumstances.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Bolduc que,
conformément aux lignes directrices concernant les frais de
déplacement des témoins, le comité rembourse des dépenses
raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement à un témoin d’un même
organisme, après qu’une demande de remboursement a été
présentée, mais que le président soit autorisé à permettre le
remboursement de dépenses pour un deuxième témoin en cas de
circonstances exceptionnelles.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Stratton, that the
Chairman be authorized to seek permission from the Senate to

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Stratton que le président
soit autorisé à demander au Sénat la permission de diffuser ses
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permit coverage by electronic media of its public proceedings
with the least possible disruption of its hearings; and

délibérations publiques par les médias d’information électronique,
de manière à déranger le moins possible ses travaux; et

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à permettre cette diffusion à sa discrétion.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted. La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

The Chair informed the members that the committee’s regular
meeting times are Tuesday mornings at 9:30 a.m. and Wednesday
afternoons at 5:45 p.m., and that meetings will be held in
room 705 of the Victoria Building.

Le président indique aux membres du comité que les séances
régulières se tiendront le mardi matin à 9 h 30 et le mercredi
après-midi à 17 h 45, dans la salle 705 de l’édifice Victoria.

The committee continued the meeting in camera. Le comité poursuit ses travaux à huis clos.

Bill S-6, Public Service Whistleblowing Act Projet de loi S-6, Loi sur la dénonciation dans la fonction
publique

After discussion, it was agreed that the committee hear
the Honourable Senator Kinsella on Bill S-6 on Tuesday
February 27, 2001. After hearing the Honourable Senator
Kinsella, the committee will decide when to proceed with clause
by clause study of the Bill.

Après discussion, il est convenu que le comité entendra
l’honorable sénateur Kinsella au sujet du projet de loi S-6 le
mardi 27 février 2001. Après avoir entendu l’honorable sénateur
Kinsella, le comité décidera à quel moment il examinera le projet
de loi article par article.

It was furthermore agreed that the Chairman of the Committee
present a motion to the Senate to request that papers and evidence
received and taken on Bill S-13 during the Second Session of the
Thirty-sixth Parliament be referred to the committee for its study
of Bill S-6.

Il est également convenu que le président du comité présentera
une motion au Sénat pour demander que les documents et
témoignages reçus au sujet du projet de loi S-13 durant la
deuxième session de la 36e législature soient renvoyés au comité
pour son étude sur le projet de loi S-6.

Estimates Prévisions budgétaires

The Chairman informed the committee that the Government
will table its Supplementary Estimates for 2000-2001 and its Main
Estimates for 2001-2002 at the end of February and the
Committee might begin its consideration of these Estimates on
March 13, 2001.

Le président signale au comité que le gouvernement déposera le
Budget supplémentaire des dépenses pour 2000-2001 et le Budget
principal des dépenses pour 2001-2002 à la fin de février et que le
comité pourrait commencer à en faire l’examen le 13 mars 2001.

Other business Autres affaires

It was agreed that the committee would hear the Auditor
General of Canada.

Il est convenu que le comité entendra le vérificateur général du
Canada.

It was also agreed that the committee hold a meeting on its
Report from last session of Parliament on Canada’s Emergency
and Disaster Preparedness in light of the Government’s creation of
an Office of Critical Infrastructure Protection and Emergency
Preparedness.

Il est également convenu que le comité tiendra une réunion
pour discuter de son rapport de la dernière session parlementaire
sur l’examen de la protection civile au Canada compte tenu de la
création par le gouvernement du Bureau de la protection de
l’infrastructure essentielle et de la planification d’urgence.

At 5:20 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair. À 17 h 20, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’à nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTEST: ATTESTÉ:

OTTAWA, Tuesday, February 27, 2001
(2)

OTTAWA, le mardi 27 février 2001
(2)

[English] [Traduction]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met at
9:32 a.m., this day, in Room 705, Victoria Building, the Chair, the
Honourable Senator Lowell Murray, P.C., presiding.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui à 9 h 32, dans la pièce 705 de l’édifice Victoria,
sous la présidence de l’honorable sénateur Lowell Murray, c.p.
(président).

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Banks, Comeau, Cools, Doody, Ferretti Barth, Finnerty, Kinsella,
LeBreton, Mahovlich, Murray, P.C., (10).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Banks,
Comeau, Cools, Doody, Ferretti Barth, Finnerty, Kinsella,
LeBreton, Mahovlich, Murray, c.p. (10).
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Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Finestone, P.C.,
(1).

Autre sénateur présent: L’honorable sénateur Finestone, c.p.
(1).

In attendance: Mr. Guy Beaumier, Research Officer, Library of
Parliament.

Également présent: M. Guy Beaumier, attaché de recherche,
Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate. Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

WITNESSES: TÉMOINS:

The Honourable Senator Noël A. Kinsella, Sponsor of the bill; L’honorable sénateur Noël A. Kinsella, parrain du projet de loi;

The Honourable Senator Sheila Finestone. L’honorable sénateur Sheila Finestone.

From the Conservative Caucus: Du Caucus conservateur:

Mr. Bruce Carson, Policy Adviser. M. Bruce Carson, conseiller en politiques.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
January 31, 2001, the committee began its examination of the
Bill S-6, An Act to assist in the prevention of wrongdoing in the
Public Service by establishing a framework for education on
ethical practices in the workplace, for dealing with allegations of
wrongdoing and for protecting whistleblowers.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le 31 janvier 2001, le comité commence l’examen du projet de
loi S-6, Loi visant à favoriser la prévention des conduites
répréhensibles dans la fonction publique en établissant un cadre
pour la sensibilisation aux pratiques conformes à l’éthique en
milieu de travail, le traitement des allégations de conduites
répréhensibles et la protection des dénonciateurs.

The Honourable Senator Kinsella, with the Honourable Senator
Finestone, made a presentation and answered questions.

L’honorable sénateur Kinsella, avec l’honorable sénateur
Finestone, fait une déclaration et répond aux questions.

It was agreed to permit Mr. Bruce Carson, policy adviser to the
Conservative Caucus, to answer a question.

Il est convenu de permettre à M. Bruce Carson, conseiller
politique du caucus conservateur, de répondre à une question.

It was agreed that the committee meet again on Bill S-6 on
Wednesday February 28, 2001 with Mr. Mark Audcent, the Law
Clerk of the Senate as a witness.

Il est convenu que le comité se réunisse de nouveau pour
l’examen du projet de loi S-6 le mercredi 28 février 2001 et que
M. Mark Audcent, légiste du Sénat, comparaisse à titre de
témoin.

At 10:30 a.m., the committee continued its sitting in camera. À 10 h 30, le comité poursuit sa séance à huis clos.

The committee undertook discussion of its future business. Le comité discute de ses travaux futurs.

Appearance by the Auditor General Comparution du vérificateur général

The Chairman informed the Committee that the Auditor
General has agreed to appear before the committee on
March 28, 2001.

Le président informe le comité que le vérificateur général a
accepté de comparaître devant le comité le 28 mars 2001.

Government Estimates Budget du gouvernement

It was agreed to examine both Supplementary Estimates and
Main Estimates on March 13, 2001 if the Senate is not sitting
during the week of March 12, 2001.

Il est convenu d’examiner le Budget supplémentaire et le
Budget principal des dépenses le 13 mars 2001, si le Sénat ne
siège pas pendant la semaine du 12 mars 2001.

At 10:40 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair. À 10 h 40, la séance est levée jusqu’à nouvelle convocation de
la présidence.

ATTEST: ATTESTÉ:

Le greffier du comité,

Tõnu Onu

Clerk of the Committee
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE RAPPORT DU COMITÉ

Thursday, February 22, 2001 Le jeudi 22 février 2001

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance has the
honour to table its

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales a
l’honneur de déposer son

FIRST REPORT PREMIER RAPPORT

Your Committee, which was authorized by the Senate to incur
expenses for the purpose of its examination and consideration of
estimates and such legislation as was referred to it, reports
pursuant to Rule 104 of the Rules of the Senate, that the expenses
incurred by the Committee during the Second Session of the
Thirty-sixth Parliament are as follows:

Votre Comité, qui a été autorisé par le Sénat à engager des
dépenses aux fins d’examiner les mesures législatives et les
Budgets des dépenses qui lui ont été déférés, dépose, conformé-
ment à l’article 104 du Règlement du Sénat, le relevé suivant des
dépenses contractées à cette fin par le comité au cours de la
deuxième session de la trente-sixième législature:

With respect to its consideration of estimates and legislation: Relatif à son étude des budgets et des dépenses des mesures
législatives:

Professional Services $1,758.55 Services professionnels 1 758,55 $

Transportation & Communications — Transport et Communications —

Witnesses expenses $1,979.25 Dépenses des témoins 1 979,25 $

Miscellaneous — Autres dépenses —

Total $3,737.80 Total 3 737,80 $

Your Committee held 19 meetings, during which it heard 66
witnesses. It reviewed two sets of Main Estimates (1999-00 and
2000-2001), two sets of Supplementary Estimates: Supplementary
Estimates (A), 1999-2000, and Supplementary Estimates (B),
1999-2000. The Committee examined three Bills C-10 — An Act
to amend the Municipal Grants Act, C-32 — An Act to implement
certain provisions of the budget tabled in Parliament on
February 28, 2000, S-13 — the Public Service Whistleblowing
Act. The Committee concluded its study of Canada’s Emergency
and Disaster Preparedness and presented a final report. The
Committee presented nine reports during the session.

Votre comité a tenu 19 réunions et entendu 66 témoins, au cours
desquelles, il a examiné deux Budgets des dépenses (1999-2000 et
2000-2001), deux Budgets des dépenses supplémentaires: Budget
des dépenses supplémentaire (A) 1999-2000, et le Budget des
dépenses supplémentaire (B) 1999-2000. Le comité a examiné
trois projets de loi: C-10 — Loi modifiant la Loi sur les
subventions aux municipalités, C-32 — Loi portant exécution de
certaines dispositions du budget déposé au Parlement le
28 février 2000, S-13 — Loi sur la dénonciation dans la fonction
publique. Il a aussi terminé son étude sur la question de la
protection civile au Canada et présenté son rapport final. Il a
présenté neuf rapports durant la session.

Respectfully submitted, Respectueusement soumis,

Le président,

LOWELL MURRAY

Chairman
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EVIDENCE TÉMOIGNAGES

OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 21, 2001 OTTAWA, le mercredi 21 février 2001

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 5:06 p.m. to organize the activities of the committee.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, à 17 h 06, pour organiser ses activités.

[English] [Traduction]

Mr. Tõnu Onu, Clerk of the Committee: Honourable
senators, I see a quorum. As clerk of your committee, it is my
duty to preside over nomination for a chair of a committee. Are
there any nominations?

M. Tõnu Onu, greffier du comité: Honorables sénateurs, je
vois que nous avons le quorum. En tant que greffier de votre
comité, il est de mon devoir de présider à la mise en candidature
pour le poste de président du comité. Y a-t-il des candidatures?

Senator Banks: I have the honour to nominate Senator Murray. Le sénateur Banks: J’ai l’honneur de proposer le sénateur
Murray.

Mr. Onu: It is proposed by Senator Banks that the Honourable
Senator Murray be Chair of the committee. Is it agreed?

M. Onu: Il est proposé par le sénateur Banks que l’honorable
sénateur Murray soit élu président du comité. Êtes-vous d’accord?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

Mr. Onu: Carried. I declare the Honourable Senator Murray to
be Chair of the committee.

M. Onu: Adopté. Je déclare l’honorable sénateur Murray élu
président du comité.

Senator Cools: That is unanimous. Le sénateur Cools: C’est une décision unanime.

Mr. Onu: The motion is carried unanimously. I invite Senator
Murray to take the Chair.

M. Onu: La motion est adoptée à l’unanimité. J’invite le
sénateur Murray à assumer la présidence.

Senator Lowell Murray (Chairman) in the Chair. Le sénateur Lowell Murray (président) occupe le fauteuil.

The Chairman: Thank you, Senator Banks, for proposing my
name.

Le président: Merci, sénateur Banks, d’avoir proposé mon
nom.

Thank you, colleagues, for your confidence. It is a great honour
to be given responsibility for the chairmanship of this committee.
I am delighted to see so many of you back, having chosen or
having been chosen to serve again on this committee. I think
continuity is very important on a committee of this kind. I am sure
you have found, as I have, that this committee, more than most,
gives its members an opportunity for an overview of the activities
of the government and an opportunity also to focus, from time to
time, on particular policies or aspects of government operations.
So while we can contribute a great deal, I hope, it is also quite a
learning experience for most of us.

Je vous remercie de votre confiance, chers collègues. C’est un
grand honneur pour moi de me voir confier la responsabilité de la
présidence du comité. Je suis heureux de revoir un si grand
nombre d’entre vous, qui avez choisi de servir de nouveau à ce
comité, et qui avez été choisis. Je pense que la continuité est très
importante au sein d’un comité comme le nôtre. Je suis persuadé
que vous avez constaté, comme moi, que ce comité donne à ses
membres, plus que la plupart des autres comités, la possibilité
d’examiner l’ensemble des activités du gouvernement et
d’examiner plus particulièrement, de temps à autres, certaines
politiques ou certains aspects des opérations gouvernementales.
Par conséquent, bien que nous puissions contribuer beaucoup, je
l’espère, c’est aussi toute une expérience d’apprentissage pour la
plupart d’entre nous. Encore une fois,

My first duty is to call for nominations for the position of
deputy chair of this committee.

Ma première fonction consiste à faire un appel de candidatures
pour le poste de vice-président du comité.

Senator Kinsella: Honourable senators, I nominate Senator
Finnerty.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Honorables sénateurs, je propose le
sénateur Finnerty.

The Chairman: Thank you. It is moved by Senator Kinsella
that Senator Finnerty be deputy chairman of this committee. Is it
your pleasure, honourable senators, to adopt the said motion?

Le président: Il est proposé par le sénateur Kinsella que le
sénateur Finnerty soit élue vice-présidente du comité. Vous
plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Senator Finnerty, I look forward very much to
working with you.

Le président: Sénateur Finnerty, je suis très impatient de
travailler avec vous.

Senator Finnerty is a relatively new senator but certainly not
new to politics and political life in this country. She has been a
member of this committee and is already well familiar with its
work. She is well regarded and well respected in her own caucus

Le sénateur Finnerty est arrivée au Sénat il y a relativement peu
de temps, mais ce n’est certainement pas sa première participation
en politique et à la vie politique dans notre pays. Elle a été
membre de ce comité et connaît déjà bien la nature de ses travaux.
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and in the rest of the Senate, so I dare say that you have made a
very wise choice.

Elle est bien considérée et bien respectée dans son propre caucus
ainsi que dans l’ensemble du Sénat, et j’ose donc dire que vous
avez fait un choix très bien avisé.

Congratulations again, senator. Je vous offre encore une fois mes félicitations, sénateur.

Let me take the occasion also to thank Senator Cools who
served as deputy chair of this committee during the previous
session of Parliament for her collaboration and cheerful cooper-
ation at all times.

Permettez-moi de profiter de l’occasion pour remercier le
sénateur Cools de sa collaboration et de son aimable coopération
pendant tout le temps où elle a été vice-présidente du comité au
cours de la précédente session du Parlement.

It was a great pleasure working with you, senator, and on
behalf all members of the committee I want to thank you for your
contribution to our work. I am delighted to see you back and to
know that you will be taking a full part in the deliberations of the
committee.

C’était un grand plaisir de travailler avec vous, sénateur, et au
nom de tous les membres du comité, je vous remercie de votre
contribution à nos travaux. Je suis ravi de vous revoir parmi nous
et de savoir que vous allez participer pleinement aux délibérations
du comité.

Senator Cools: Thank you very much. Le sénateur Cools: Merci beaucoup.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, before we proceed, there
are several routine motions, motions that are virtually identical to
the motions we passed at the organizational meeting of this
committee in the previous session. These motions are being made
in organization meetings of other committees, so I bespeak your
understanding and cooperation as we go through them.

Le président: Honorables sénateurs, avant d’aller plus loin,
nous devons adopter plusieurs motions d’ordre administratif, qui
sont virtuellement identiques à celles que nous avons adoptées
lors de la séance d’organisation du comité au cours de la session
précédente. Les autres comités adoptent des motions de cette
nature lors de leurs séances d’organisation et je fais appel à votre
indulgence et à votre coopération au fur et à mesure que nous les
réglerons.

When we have finished with that, I would like to convene the
meeting in camera very briefly to discuss future business. I assure
you that, as far as I am concerned, that will be a brief meeting.

Quand nous en aurons terminé avec ces motions, j’aimerais
tenir une réunion à huis clos pour discuter très brièvement des
travaux futurs du comité. Je vous assure qu’en ce qui me
concerne, la réunion sera brève.

In the meantime, however, the Chair would entertain a motion: Entre-temps, cependant, la présidence doit entendre une motion
portant:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the Chair, the Deputy Chair and one other
member of the Committee, to be designated after the usual
consultation; and

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure se
compose du président, de la vice-présidente et d’un autre
membre du comité désigné après les consultations d’usage; et

That the Subcommittee be empowered to make recom-
mendations to the Committee with respect to agenda, inviting
witnesses, and scheduling of meetings.

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé à faire des
recommandations au comité relativement au programme, à
l’invitation des témoins et à l’horaire des audiences.

Senator Bolduc: I so move. Le sénateur Bolduc: Je propose la motion.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Now there is a motion to print the committee’s
proceedings.

Le président: Nous passons maintenant à une motion
concernant l’impression des délibérations du comité.

[Translation] [Français]

The Chair will accept a motion that the committee print its
proceedings; and that the Chair be authorized to set the number to
meet demand.

La présidence acceptera une motion que le comité fasse
imprimer ces délibérations; et que la présidence soit autorisée à
fixer la quantité en fonction des besoins.

Senator Finnerty: So moved. Le sénateur Finnerty: J’en fais la proposition.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, is it your pleasure to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
dite motion?

Some Hon. Senators: Yes. Des voix: Oui.

The Chairman: The motion carries. Le président: La motion est adoptée.
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[English] [Traduction]

The Chairman: Carried. The Chair will entertain a motion: Le président: Adopté. La présidence recevra maintenant une
motion portant ce qui suit:

That, pursuant to Rule 89, the Chair be authorized to hold
meetings, to receive and authorize the printing of the
evidence when a quorum is not present, provided that a
member of the Committee from both the government and the
opposition be present.

Que, conformément à l’article 89 du Règlement, le
président soit autorisé à tenir des réunions pour entendre des
témoignages et à en permettre la publication en l’absence de
quorum, pourvu qu’un membre du comité du gouvernement
et de l’opposition soient présents.

Senator Banks: I so move. Le sénateur Banks: Je propose la motion.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Carried. Le président: Adopté.

[Translation] [Français]

The next motion deals with the financial report. That, pursuant
to rule 104, the Chairman be authorized to report expenses
incurred by the Committee during the last session. You have in
front of you a copy of the committee’s first report for the
parliamentary session that has just ended.

La prochaine motion a trait au rapport financier: Que,
conformément à l’article 104 du Règlement, la présidence soit
autorisée à faire rapport des dépenses faites au cours de la dernière
session. Vous avez copie devant vous du premier rapport du
comité pour la session parlementaire qui vient de se terminer.

Senator Banks: So moved. Le sénateur Banks: J’en fais la proposition.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, is it your pleasure to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il honorables sénateurs d’adopter la
dite motion?

Some Hon. Senators: Yes. Des voix: Oui.

The Chairman: The motion carries. Le président: La motion est adoptée.

[English] [Traduction]

The Chairman will entertain a motion: La présidence est prête à recevoir une motion portant ce qui
suit:

That the Committee ask the Library of Parliament to
assign research officers to the Committee;

Que le comité demande à la Bibliothèque du Parlement
d’affecter des attachés de recherche auprès du comité;

That the Chair be authorized to seek authority from the
Senate to engage the services of such counsel and technical,
clerical, and other personnel as may be necessary for the
purpose of the Committee’s examination and consideration of
such bills, subject-matters of bills, and estimates as are
referred to it;

Que le président soit autorisé à demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
personnel technique, d’employés de bureau et d’autres
personnes au besoin, pour aider le comité à examiner les
projets de loi, la teneur de ces derniers et les prévisions
budgétaires qui lui sont déférés.

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à faire appel aux services d’experts-conseils dont le
comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

That the Chair, on behalf of the Committee, direct the
research staff in the presentation of studies, analyses,
summaries, and draft reports.

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de
résumés, et de projets de rapport.

Senator Mahovlich: I so move. Le sénateur Mahovlich: Je propose la motion.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Carried. The next motion would provide
authority to allow the Chair and the Deputy Chair and the Clerk of
the committee individually to sign off on the allocation of funds:

Le président: Adopté. La motion suivante donnerait
au président, à la vice-présidente et au greffier du comité
individuellement le pouvoir d’approuver par leur signature
l’attribution de certains fonds:
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That, pursuant to section 32 of the Financial
Administration Act, authority to commit funds be conferred
individually on the Chair, the Deputy Chair and the Clerk of
the Committee; and

Que, conformément à l’article 32 de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques, l’autorisation d’engager les fonds du
comité soit conférée individuellement au président, à la
vice-présidente et au greffier du comité; et

That, pursuant to section 34 of the Financial
Administration Act, and Guideline 3:05 of Appendix II of the
Rules of the Senate, authority for certifying accounts payable
by the Committee be conferred individually on the Chair, the
Deputy Chair and the Clerk of the Committee.

Que, conformément à l’article 34 de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques et à la directive 3:05 de l’annexe II du
Règlement du Sénat, l’autorisation d’approuver les comptes à
payer au nom du comité soit conférée individuellement au
président, à la vice-présidente et au greffier du comité.

Senator Cools: I so move. Le sénateur Cools: Je propose la motion.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Carried. Le président: Adopté.

[Translation] [Français]

The following motion enables the committee to authorize the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure to designate, as required,
one or more members of the committee and/or such staff as may
be necessary to travel on assignment on behalf of the committee.

La motion suivante est pour que le comité autorise le
Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure à désigner, aux
besoins, un ou plusieurs membres du comité, de même que le
personnel nécessaire, qui se déplaceront au nom du comité.

Senator Ferretti Barth: So moved. Le sénateur Ferretti Barth: J’en fais la proposition.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, is it your pleasure to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il honorables sénateurs d’adopter la
dite motion?

Some Hon. Senators: Yes. Des voix: Oui.

The Chairman: The motion carries. Le président: La motion est adoptée.

[English] [Traduction]

Next is the designation of a member on committee business.
We had a big discussion on this the last time, but I think you
understand why we have to pass this motion. It has to do with the
senators’ attendance policy:

Nous passons maintenant à la désignation d’un membre à un
engagement pour le comité. Nous avions eu une grosse discussion
à ce sujet la dernière fois, mais je pense que vous comprenez
pourquoi nous devons adopter cette motion. Elle concerne la
politique relative à la présence des sénateurs:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is
on “official business” for the purposes of paragraph
8(3)(a) of the Senators Attendance Policy published in
the Journals of the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998;
and

1) déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» aux fins de l’alinéa 8(3)a) de la
politique relative à la présence des sénateurs, publiée
dans les Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

2) consider any member of the Committee to be on
“official business” if that member is: (a) attending a
function, event or meeting related to the work of the
Committee; or (b) making a presentation related to the
work of the committee.

2) considérer qu’un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» si ce membre: a) assiste à une
réception, à une activité ou à une réunion se rapportant
aux travaux du comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait
aux travaux du comité.

Senator Doody: I so move. Le sénateur Doody: Je propose la motion.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Carried. Le président: Adopté.
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[Translation] [Français]

The following motion pertains to the travelling and living
expenses of witnesses and reads that, pursuant to the Senate
guidelines for witnesses’ expenses, the committee may reimburse
reasonable travelling and living expenses for one witness from
any one organization and payment will take place upon
application, but that the Chair be authorized to approve expenses
for a second witness should there be exceptional circumstances.

La motion suivante concerne les frais de déplacement des
témoins et indique que, conformément aux lignes directrices du
Sénat gouvernant les frais de déplacement des témoins, le comité
peut rembourser des dépenses raisonnables de voyage et d’héber-
gement à un témoin d’un même organisme, après qu’une demande
de remboursement ait été présentée, mais que la présidence soit
autorisée à permettre le remboursement de dépenses pour un
deuxième témoin s’il y a circonstance exceptionnelles.

Senator Bolduc: So moved. Le sénateur Bolduc: J’en fais la proposition.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, is it your pleasure to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il honorables sénateurs d’adopter la
dite motion?

Some Hon. Senators: Yes. Des voix: Oui.

The Chairman: The motion carries. Le président: La motion est adoptée.

[English] [Traduction]

The Chair will entertain a motion from Senator Stratton: La présidence recevra maintenant une motion du sénateur
Stratton:

That the Chair be authorized to seek permission from the
Senate to permit coverage by electronic media of its public
proceedings with the least possible disruption of its hearings;
and

Que le président soit autorisé à demander au Sénat la
permission de diffuser ses délibérations publiques par les
médias d’information électroniques, de manière à déranger le
moins possible ses travaux; et

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à permettre cette diffusion à sa discrétion.

Senator Stratton: I so move. Le sénateur Stratton: Je propose la motion.

The Chairman: Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to
adopt the motion?

Le président: Vous plaît-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la
motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix: D’accord.

The Chairman: Carried. I remind you that our time slot is
Tuesdays at 9:30 a.m. in room 705 of the Victoria Building. Our
second time slot, when necessary, at the moment, will be
Wednesdays at 5:45 p.m. in room 705 of the Victoria Building.
We will discuss some of these matters at our in camera meeting.

Le président: Adopté. Je vous rappelle que le créneau prévu
pour nos réunions est le mardi à 9 h 30, dans la salle 705 de
l’édifice Victoria. Notre deuxième créneau, au besoin, est prévu
pour l’instant le mercredi à 17 h 45 dans la salle 705 de l’édifice
Victoria. Nous discuterons de certaines de ces questions au cours
de notre séance à huis clos.

If there is no further business, colleagues, thank you very much.
We will adjourn this meeting and proceed to an in camera
discussion.

Si vous n’avez rien d’autre à ajouter, chers collègues, je vous
remercie beaucoup. La séance est levée et nous passons à une
discussion à huis clos.

The committee continued in camera. Le comité poursuit ses travaux à huis clos.

OTTAWA, Tuesday, February 27, 2001 OTTAWA, le mardi 27 février 2001

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance, to which
was referred Bill S-6, to assist in the prevention of wrongdoing in
the public service by establishing a framework for education on
ethical practices in the workplace, for dealing with allegations of
wrongdoing and for protecting whistleblowers, met this day
at 9:32 a.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales, auquel
a été renvoyé le projet de loi S-6, visant à favoriser la prévention
des conduites répréhensibles dans la fonction publique
en établissant un cadre pour la sensibilisation aux pratiques
conformes à l’éthique en milieu de travail, le traitement des
allégations de conduites répréhensibles et la protection des
dénonciateurs, se réunit aujourd’hui, à 9 h 32, pour en faire
l’examen.

Senator Lowell Murray (Chairman) in the Chair. Le sénateur Lowell Murray (président) occupe le fauteuil.
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The Chairman: Honourable senators, our order of reference is
Bill S-6, known as the Public Service Whistleblowing Act.
The bill was referred to the committee by the Senate on
January 31. You will recall that, in the last session, the bill was
numbered Bill S-13 and the committee held three hearings on it in
April and May 2000. Honourable senators should have before
them a copy of a précis, a legislative summary, prepared by the
parliamentary library, which summarizes the evidence that the
committee heard on Bill S-13 at that time.

Le président: Chers collègues, notre ordre de renvoi concerne
le projet de loi S-6, mieux connu sous le nom de Loi sur la
dénonciation dans la fonction publique. Le projet de loi nous a été
renvoyé par le Sénat le 31 janvier. Vous vous rappellerez que, lors
de la session précédente, le projet de loi portait le numéro S-13 et
que le comité avait tenu trois audiences à son sujet en avril et en
mai 2000. Chers collègues, vous devriez avoir devant vous un
exemplaire du résumé législatif rédigé par la Bibliothèque du
Parlement dans lequel sont résumés les témoignages entendus par
le comité précédent au sujet du projet de loi S-13.

Before I ask honourable senators whether they wish to proceed
to clause by clause, we will hear from the sponsor of the bill,
Senator Kinsella, who told us at our last meeting that several
technical amendments will be proposed by one of his colleagues.
These amendments were circulated to you during the past week.

Avant de vous demander si vous souhaitez faire l’étude article
par article, nous allons entendre le parrain du projet de loi,
c’est-à-dire le sénateur Kinsella, qui nous a dit à la dernière
réunion qu’un de ses collègues proposerait plusieurs modifications
de forme. On a fait circuler le texte de ces modifications la
semaine dernière.

Senator Kinsella: My colleague, Senator Finestone, will be
seconder of the bill.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Ma collègue, le sénateur Finestone, sera
la comotionnaire.

Honourable senators, as indicated at the last meeting of this
committee, I did forward to you a copy of the bill, a copy of the
technical amendments, as well as a brief review of the bill, as a
reminder of where we had left off before prorogation of the last
Parliament.

Honorables sénateurs, comme il a été mentionné à la dernière
séance du comité, je vous ai effectivement envoyé un exemplaire
du projet de loi, un exemplaire des modifications de forme, ainsi
qu’une brève récapitulation du projet de loi pour que vous sachiez
où nous en étions avant que ne soit prorogé le Parlement

The good news is that we in Canada are fortunate in having a
first-rate public service of which Canadians can be proud. We
contribute to public administration in many countries around the
world by our public servants being asked to assist other public
services in best practices, et cetera.

La bonne nouvelle, c’est qu’au Canada, nous avons la chance
d’avoir une fonction publique de premier ordre dont peuvent être
fiers les Canadiens. Nous contribuons à l’administration publique
dans de nombreux pays grâce à nos fonctionnaires auxquels on
demande d’aider d’autres fonctions publiques à améliorer leurs
pratiques et ainsi de suite.

Bill S-6 is an attempt to provide a necessary piece that is
missing in a modern, highly ethical public service. Some countries
around the world are a bit ahead of us in this respect, others I
believe are coming on line with this. The model that we have
presented in this bill is fair to both public service management and
to public service employees. It is also equally fair to the people of
Canada. That is why this whole notion of public interest is at the
heart of this bill.

Grâce au projet de loi S-6, nous aimerions ajouter un chaînon
manquant qui ferait de notre fonction publique un organisme
moderne et soucieux de l’éthique. Certains autres pays nous
devancent légèrement à cet égard, et d’autres commencent à en
tenir compte. Le modèle que nous présentons dans le projet de loi
à l’étude est équitable à l’égard tant des gestionnaires de la
fonction publique que de ses employés. Il est également équitable
à l’égard des Canadiens et Canadiennes. C’est pourquoi le projet
de loi à l’étude tout entier gravite autour de cette notion d’intérêt
public.

Honourable senators, clause 2 sets out the purpose of the bill,
and therein the education function is described. We underscore the
point that education is one of the three pillars of Bill S-6.

L’article 2 énonce l’objet du projet de loi, soit la
sensibilisation, suivi d’une description. Nous soulignons que la
sensibilisation est l’un des trois piliers du projet de loi.

The second pillar is a complaint process that is respectful —
and this is important to underscore — of the responsibility of
departments and agencies to manage their own affairs in an ethical
and efficient manner. The complaint process is such that the
public interest commissioner will go to the department and tell
them that they have a problem and ask them how they propose to
resolve that problem. Therefore, it leaves in the hands of the
deputy minister and the senior managers of a department, the
responsibility to run their respective departments in an ethical and
efficacious manner.

Le deuxième est un processus de suivi des allégations qui
respecte — il importe de le souligner — la responsabilité des
ministères et des organismes dans la gestion de leurs propres
affaires de manière éthique et efficace. Le processus de suivi est
tel que le commissaire de l’intérêt public communiquera avec le
ministère pour l’aviser d’un problème et pour lui demander
comment il projette de le régler. Par conséquent, la responsabilité
d’administrer le ministère de manière éthique et efficace demeure
entre les mains du sous-ministre et des cadres supérieurs.

It is also necessary to protect the public employee, who ought
not be forced to place his or her career on the line by speaking out
on something that is unethical or, indeed, illegal. I believe this bill

Il faut aussi protéger le fonctionnaire. Sa carrière ne devrait pas
être compromise du simple fait qu’il a dénoncé des agissements
qui ne sont pas éthiques ou qui sont en fait illicites. Le projet de
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is innovative in that it respects management’s right to manage, as
well as recognizing the responsibility of the conscientious and
moral public servant to have a mechanism or framework within
which to identify problems.

loi à l’étude est innovateur, en ce sens qu’il respecte le droit de la
haute direction de gérer, tout en reconnaissant la responsabilité
morale du fonctionnaire consciencieux d’avoir en place un
mécanisme ou un cadre permettant de cerner les problèmes.

We have looked at a variety of places where the Public Service
Commission might be located, and we think that the Public
Service Commission is ideally situated because it is responsible
for the implementation of the merit principle, which has been
fairly effective and successful in our public service, otherwise we
would not have one of the best public services in the world.

Nous nous sommes interrogés sur le meilleur organe auquel
greffer la fonction de commissaire de l’intérêt public et nous
avons examiné plusieurs possibilités. Nous en sommes venus à la
conclusion que la Commission de la fonction publique était idéale
parce qu’elle est responsable de l’application du principe du
mérite qui a été jusqu’ici plutôt efficace et a donné de bons
résultats, sans quoi notre fonction publique ne serait pas l’une des
meilleures du monde.

As well, the Public Service Commission is engaged in the
educational, ethical and values issues that speak to a modern
public service. Clauses 2 to 5 deal with the appointment of the
commissioner; and clause 8 articulates, in particular, the education
function. Clauses 9 to 17 deal with the complaint process; and
clauses 18 to 22 are the anti-retaliation provisions. I think
honourable senators are familiar with the model of the bill.

De plus, la Commission de la fonction publique s’occupe déjà
de valeurs, d’éthique et de sensibilisation, des enjeux de la
fonction publique contemporaine. Les articles 2 à 5 du projet de
loi concernent la nomination du commissaire; l’article 8, lui,
décrit plus particulièrement la fonction de sensibilisation. Les
articles 9 à 17 traitent du processus de suivi des allégations et les
articles 18 à 22 regroupent les dispositions relatives à l’immunité.
Je crois que mes collègues connaissent déjà le modèle dont
s’inspire le projet de loi.

Based on the evidence that we have heard from witnesses, I
came to the conclusion that we would be well-advised to make
two small technical amendments relating to the matter wherein a
complainant, or the whistle-blower, wishes to allow his or her
complaint to be made public, it would not be an offence for them
to do so. In the bill as presently drafted, the complainant would be
forbidden from doing that.

Les témoignages entendus m’ont porté à conclure que nous
serions bien avisés d’apporter deux légères modifications de
forme qui permettrait au plaignant ou au dénonciateur qui le
souhaite de rendre publique son allégation. Si c’était le cas, il ne
commettrait pas d’infraction. En effet, d’après le libellé actuel du
projet de loi, le plaignant ne pourrait pas le faire.

We are proposing amendments to clauses 9 and 20. The
purpose of the main amendment to clause 9 is to allow a
whistle-blower, who asked for confidentiality at the time of
making the allegation, to later withdraw the request for
confidentiality. The withdrawal would have to be in writing.

Nous proposons donc des modifications aux articles 9 et 20 du
projet de loi. La principale modification de l’article 9 aurait pour
objet de permettre au dénonciateur qui a demandé que la
confidentialité de son identité soit assurée au moment de faire la
dénonciation, de retirer par la suite cette demande. Il faudrait qu’il
le fasse par écrit.

The purpose of the corollary amendment to clause 20 is to
make it clear that it would not be an offence to disclose the
identity of a whistle-blower who has withdrawn his or her request
for confidentiality.

La modification consécutive de l’article 20 a pour objet de bien
préciser qu’il n’y a pas d’infraction si l’identité d’un dénonciateur
qui a retiré sa demande de confidentialité est dévoilée.

That, Mr. Chairman, is a brief overview of the bill. I would be
happy to participate in discussion on the bill if that is the desire of
honourable senators.

Voilà, monsieur le président, le projet de loi en bref. Je suis tout
à fait prêt à en débattre avec mes collègues si tel est leur souhait.

The Chairman: Did you have anything to add, Senator
Finestone?

Le président: Aviez-vous quelque chose à ajouter, sénateur
Finestone?

Senator Finestone: It is unexpected privilege to share this
particular seat with the honourable senator and, ill-prepared as I
am, I am sure I will not be at a loss for words.

Le sénateur Finestone: C’est pour moi un privilège inattendu
de partager ce siège particulier avec mon collègue et, bien que je
sois mal préparée, je suis certaine de savoir quoi dire.

The committee heard from the Treasury Board team charged
with drawing up a values and ethics statement based on the Tate
report and other reports that had been brought to the government’s
attention regarding modernization of comptrollership in the
Government of Canada in 1996. That followed the Tate report,
and it included the concerns expressed by the Auditor General.

Le comité a entendu les porte-parole du Conseil du Trésor
chargés de rédiger un énoncé des valeurs et de l’éthique en
fonction du rapport Tate et d’autres rapports portés à l’attention du
gouvernement concernant la modernisation de la fonction de
contrôleur au sein du gouvernement du Canada en 1996. C’était
après le dépôt du rapport Tate, et l’énoncé tenait compte des
préoccupations exprimées par le vérificateur général.
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After hearing from the Treasury Board officials, I was
concerned that they were taking what seemed to be an
inordinately long time to express ethics and values. Did Senator
Kinsella’s presentation add anything in terms of the cohesion,
the sense of well-being and worth of the public service,
particularly in light of the new Personal Information Protection
and Electronic Documents Act, a large section of which deals with
whistle-blowing responsibility?

Après avoir entendu les témoins du Conseil du Trésor, j’étais
préoccupée par le fait qu’ils semblaient prendre autant de temps
pour énoncer les principes d’éthique et les valeurs. L’exposé du
sénateur Kinsella a-t-il ajouté quoi que ce soit en termes de
cohésion, de sentiment de bien-être et de valeurs de la fonction
publique, à la lumière particulièrement de la nouvelle Loi sur la
protection des renseignements personnels et les documents
électroniques dont une grande partie porte sur la responsabilité en
matière de dénonciation?

The definitions in that act are very similar to the language used
in this instance. I do not know if that was deliberate, but it
certainly excludes the potential for conflict between the two
documents.

Les définitions données dans cette loi ressemblent beaucoup à
la terminologie utilisée dans le projet de loi à l’étude. J’ignore si
c’était délibéré, mais cela exclut certes la possibilité de conflit
entre les deux documents.

I thought it important that the public sector team who were
here should understand the intent that they be included in any
whistle-blowing legislation. Since the government had seen fit to
have a whistle-blowing section for the private sector, why should
there not be a similar provision which would apply to the public
sector which represents about 10 per cent of the workforce?
Should there not be a fairness principle and an equity principle
which applies to both sectors? I was comforted when I thought of
it in that perspective.

J’estimais important que l’équipe de la fonction publique qui
est venue témoigner comprenne que le législateur souhaitait
qu’elle soit incluse dans toute loi sur les dénonciateurs. Depuis
lors, le gouvernement a jugé bon d’inclure un article relatif à la
dénonciation à l’intention de l’entreprise privée. Pourquoi n’y
aurait-il pas alors des dispositions analogues qui s’appliqueraient
au secteur public, qui représente 10 p. 100 environ de la
population active? Un principe d’équité et de justice ne devrait-il
pas s’appliquer aux deux secteurs? Quand j’y ai réfléchi sous cet
angle, cela m’a réconfortée.

I came across that whistle-blowing legislation as I was
preparing for today’s meeting. We may, indeed, learn something
from the implementation of that legislation which we can apply to
the public-sector bill.

J’ai trouvé par hasard cette loi relative aux dénonciations alors
que je me préparais pour la réunion d’aujourd’hui. Nous tirerons
peut-être, en réalité, de la mise en oeuvre de cette loi des
enseignements que nous pouvons appliquer au secteur public.

I do have a concern, honourable senators, that a sunset clause
should be included in this proposed legislation.

Par contre, chers collègues, il faudrait effectivement inclure
dans le projet de loi à l’étude une disposition de temporisation.

Australians in Queensland have been most concerned about the
testimony they have heard in regards to whistle-blowing. An
enormous number of complaints have been made, some of them
quite frivolous in the end. It is quite damaging to the person
against whom the complaint has been raised, who may feel there
is a whole bunch of people going around and checking up on him
or her. If it turns out to be frivolous, some damage may already be
done to that person’s psyche, his family, and his surroundings.

Au Queensland, les Australiens sont préoccupés au plus haut
point par les témoignages qu’ils ont entendus au sujet des
dénonciateurs. Un nombre d’allégations faramineux a été fait,
certaines s’avérant très frivoles en fin de compte. Cela nuit
énormément à la personne dénoncée qui se sent peut-être épiée
par toute une armée de gens. Si l’allégation s’avère sans
fondement, le tort causé au psyché de cette personne, à sa famille
et à son entourage est peut-être déjà irréversible.

I would suggest some consideration of a time-sensitive clause
so that the act can be examined to see if it is really working and
whether it should be integrated into the public sector under the
responsibilities of both union and management under the Treasury
Board. That would be my only observation.

Je propose que soit envisagée la possibilité d’inclure une
disposition sensible au temps pour que la loi puisse être examinée
pour en vérifier l’efficacité et pour voir s’il y a lieu de l’appliquer
au secteur public, sous la responsabilité partagée du syndicat et de
la direction et sous la direction du Conseil du Trésor. C’est la
seule observation que j’ai à faire.

Senator LeBreton: When I was reading the bill, I had a
question about the public interest commissioner. What legal
assistance is available to a whistle-blower and the person upon
whom the whistle has been blown? Is it just up to the public
interest commissioner to decide whether a complaint is valid, or
do people have access to legal advice? In particular, do they have
access to lawyers in the Department of Justice?

Le sénateur LeBreton: À la lecture du projet de loi, j’avais
une question au sujet du commissaire de l’intérêt public. Quelle
aide juridique est à la disposition du dénonciateur et de la
personne dénoncée? Est-ce simplement au commissaire de
l’intérêt public de décider quand une plainte est valide ou les gens
ont-ils accès à des services juridiques? Plus particulièrement,
ont-ils accès à des avocats du ministère de la Justice?

Senator Kinsella: That is an excellent question. In the present
situation, the financial costs that would be associated with a public
servant blowing a whistle on an illegal or an immoral activity are
totally on the shoulders of that public employee. That person

Le sénateur Kinsella: Voilà une excellente question.
Actuellement, le coût associé à la dénonciation par un
fonctionnaire d’une activité illicite ou immorale est entièrement
assumé par ce fonctionnaire. Il faudrait que la personne engage un
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would have to hire a lawyer. They must be careful to avoid
charges of slander and possible counter-suits.

avocat. Il faut faire attention et se protéger contre des accusations
de diffamation et d’éventuelles contre-poursuites.

Indeed, that occurred recently to a whistle-blower in the
Department of External Affairs. The government counter-sued.
The employee lost the suit. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs was
deemed to be right. The award against the public servant was
over $300,000 which obviously would bankrupt that person. On
appeal, the award was reduced to $75,000.

En fait, c’est arrivé récemment à un dénonciateur, au ministère
des Affaires étrangères. Le gouvernement a entamé une
contre-poursuite. L’employé a perdu. Le ministère des Affaires
étrangères a eu gain de cause. Le montant que la cour a ordonné
au fonctionnaire de payer était de plus de 300 000 $, ce qui
manifestement l’aurait mis en faillite. En appel, le montant a été
réduit à 75 000 $.

Senator Finestone: The union is taking up that cause. Le sénateur Finestone: Le syndicat prend fait et cause pour
l’employé.

Senator Kinsella: As Senator Finestone says, currently, one
can also go to one’s public sector union. One can use the Public
Service Staff Relations Act grievance mechanisms. However, the
whole principle of our bill is that it is in the public interest to
have public servants with knowledge bring forward cases of
wrongdoing. They will not have to pay a lawyer to represent them
to do that. As well, they will not lose their job or be red-circled.
The public interest commissioner would take carriage of the
matter, just as the Human Rights Commission takes carriage of
complaints of racial discrimination in employment, for example.
Obviously, the victim of such employment discrimination is
without a job and has no resources to hire a lawyer to use the
other processes. The public interest commissioner would take that
burden of needing to hire a lawyer from the shoulders of the
employee. That does not interfere with someone who wants to see
recourse to the courts or the Public Service Staff Relations Act
grievance mechanisms. Those avenues are still open to the
employee.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Comme le dit le sénateur Finestone,
actuellement, on peut aussi s’adresser à son syndicat. On peut
recourir au mécanisme de grief prévu par la Loi sur les relations
de travail dans la fonction publique. Toutefois, le principe de base
de notre projet de loi est qu’il est dans l’intérêt public de laisser
les fonctionnaires conscients d’actes répréhensibles les dénoncer.
Ils n’auront pas à payer un avocat pour les représenter à cette fin.
Par ailleurs, ils ne perdront pas leur emploi ou ne verront pas leur
poste bloqué. Le commissaire de l’intérêt public pourrait prendre
la question en charge, tout comme la Commission des droits de la
personne prend en charge les plaintes de discrimination raciale en
milieu de travail, par exemple. De toute évidence, la victime
d’une pareille discrimination est sans emploi et n’a pas les
ressources voulues pour retenir les services d’un avocat qui
l’aiderait à se prévaloir des autres mécanismes. Le commissaire de
l’intérêt public en assumerait le fardeau. Cela ne nuit pas à celui
qui souhaite aller devant les tribunaux ou qui veut déposer un
grief en vertu de la Loi sur les relations de travail dans la fonction
publique. Ces recours sont toujours disponibles.

Senator LeBreton: I am not entirely familiar with it although I
did read about the case at the Department of Foreign Affairs. In
that instance the parties were the whistle-blower and the minister.
Do Department of Justice lawyers work on behalf of the
government on a case like that? Is there not a conflict if you have
lawyers from the Department of Justice representing both parties,
or does the employee hire an outside lawyer? What process was
followed?

Le sénateur LeBreton: Je ne connais pas à fond l’affaire du
ministère des Affaires étrangères, bien que j’aie lu quelque chose
à ce sujet. Dans cette affaire, les parties étaient le dénonciateur et
le ministre. Les avocats du ministère de la Justice travaillent-ils
pour le compte du gouvernement à ce genre d’affaire? N’y a-t-il
pas un conflit quand les avocats du ministère de la Justice
représentent les deux parties, ou bien faut-il que l’employé engage
un avocat de l’extérieur? Quel processus a été suivi?

Senator Kinsella: That is indeed a good question, Senator
LeBreton. The current model is an adversarial model, but this bill
does not propose an adversarial approach. This approach is that
we will make a vehicle available that will encourage the
department or the agency itself to solve its problem and to do so
not at the expense of the public servant. This process avoids an
adversarial approach.

Le sénateur Kinsella: C’est vraiment une excellente
question, sénateur LeBreton. Le modèle actuel est un modèle
d’affrontement, mais ce n’est pas ce que propose le projet de loi à
l’étude. L’approche mise de l’avant dans le projet de loi veut que
nous mettions en place un mécanisme qui encouragera le
ministère ou l’organisme à régler lui-même le problème et à
ne pas le faire aux frais du fonctionnaire. On évite ainsi
l’affrontement.

We know from our experience that ministers are ultimately
responsible, but very often the minister is the last one in the chain
to learn about some terrible thing that has gone on in his or her
department. In many ways, it is unfair to the minister. They do not
know about it because the information does not come up the line.

Nous savons d’expérience que les ministres sont responsables
en fin de compte, mais très souvent, le ministre est le dernier à
être mis au courant de ce qui se passe dans son ministère. De bien
des façons, c’est injuste. Il en ignore tout parce que l’information
ne circule pas vers le haut.

Under this bill, the minister will be contacted by the public
interest commissioner who will help the minister to discharge his
or her duty. This is the uniqueness of this bill.

Aux termes du projet de loi à l’étude, le ministre en sera
informé par le commissaire de l’intérêt public qui l’aidera à
assumer sa responsabilité. C’est ce qui rend le projet de loi à
l’étude si unique.
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As a former deputy minister in Ottawa, I can understand the
hesitancy of senior managers and people from Treasury Board, as
the management organization, to deal with whistle-blowing.
Obviously, they draw from the Department of Justice lawyers.
That is their legal requirement. Although they may have some
hesitation in dealing with anything to do with whistle-blowing, if
they read our bill very carefully, they will see that, unlike other
attempts to draft similar legislation, we are on their side. We will
give them an opportunity to manage their way out of this problem.
Parliament will be informed that there was a complaint against a
particular department and that it was resolved. That is what we
want to hear. We want to hear that nobody’s career was adversely
affected.

En tant qu’ex-sous-ministre à Ottawa, je puis concevoir avec
quelles réticences les cadres supérieurs et les gens du Conseil du
Trésor, de même que l’organisme de gestion, peuvent avoir
lorsqu’ils traitent de dénonciations. Manifestement, ils utilisent les
services du ministère de la Justice. La loi les y oblige. Bien qu’il
leur répugne peut-être d’avoir affaire à des dénonciations, s’ils
lisent notre projet de loi avec soin, ils constateront que
contrairement à des projets de loi antérieurs, nous sommes de leur
côté. Nous leur donnons la possibilité de gérer de manière à
trouver une solution. Le Parlement sera avisé qu’une plainte a été
déposée contre un ministère particulier et qu’elle a été réglée.
C’est ce que nous voulons entendre. Nous voulons avoir
l’assurance qu’aucune carrière ne sera mise en jeu.

Senator Banks: I have a list of questions and I will ask them
until you tell me when to stop. All my questions arise from the
précis we received, and for which I am grateful.

Le sénateur Banks: J’ai une liste de questions et je vais les
poser jusqu’à ce que vous me demandiez de m’arrêter. Toutes mes
questions découlent du document que nous avons reçu et dont je
vous suis reconnaissant.

The question was raised by some witnesses we heard on
Bill S-13 about the definitions which exist in clause 3 and, in
particular, the definition of “employee” on the one hand, and
“public service” on the other. They referred to two different acts.
The question was raised if that, in fact, means different parts of
the public service are protected to different extents and in different
ways. Do we want to take that into account? Should that be
harmonized in this case?

La question a été soulevée par certains témoins durant les
audiences relatives au projet de loi S-13 au sujet des définitions de
l’article 3 du projet de loi et, plus particulièrement, de la
définition, d’une part, de «fonctionnaire» et, d’autre part, de
«fonction publique». Elle renvoie à deux lois différentes. On a
demandé si en fait cela signifiait que différentes parties de la
fonction publique jouissent de protection différente. Faut-il en
tenir compte? Faudrait-il harmoniser?

Senator Kinsella: We considered what would be the best way
to define “employee” and came to the conclusion that, with a new
model, we would like to keep it tight. Therefore, the vast majority
of employees, indeed, fall under the Public Service Employment
Act, and it is that well-defined group of public servants that we
are addressing here.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Nous nous sommes demandés quelle
serait la meilleure façon de définir le «fonctionnaire» et en
sommes venus à la conclusion que, dans le cadre du nouveau
modèle, nous aimerions que les définitions soient très pointues.
Comme la vaste majorité des fonctionnaires, en fait, tombent sous
le coup de la Loi sur l’emploi dans la fonction publique, c’est à ce
groupe bien défini de fonctionnaires que s’applique le projet de
loi.

Senator Finestone has alluded to the fact that there are other
pieces of legislation, such as the Environmental Protection Act,
that contain a whistle-blowing provision. There are some others
that apply to the private sector. For this purpose, we thought it
would be better to use the well-defined group as provided for by
the Public Service Employment Act. It was a deliberate decision.

Le sénateur Finestone a fait allusion au fait qu’on trouve une
disposition relative aux dénonciations dans d’autres textes de loi,
comme la Loi sur la protection de l’environnement. D’autres
encore s’appliquent à l’entreprise privée. Aux fins présentes, nous
avons estimé préférable d’utiliser le groupe bien défini prévu dans
la Loi sur l’emploi dans la fonction publique. Le choix a été
délibéré.

Senator Banks: You have considered that matter, in other
words?

Le sénateur Banks: En d’autres mots, vous y avez réfléchi?

Senator Kinsella: Yes. Le sénateur Kinsella: Oui.

Senator Banks: Would you comment on the reservation in
clause 10 that was expressed by the Treasury Board people that
this seems to bump up against the idea of knowing the identity of
one’s accuser?

Le sénateur Banks: Pourriez-vous nous commenter les
réserves exprimées par les gens du Conseil du Trésor au sujet de
l’article 10 parce qu’il semble empêcher que l’on connaisse
l’identité de la personne qui nous accuse?

This could lead, in some circumstances, to criminal charges. If I
were a senior manager who had been accused of harassment,
should I not be able to find out the name of my accuser, or is it
more important in this case that the balance should rest on the side
of anonymity? If that is so, might we run into a Charter conflict
here?

Cela pourrait mener, dans certaines circonstances, à des
accusations au criminel. Si j’étais un cadre supérieur accusé de
harcèlement, ne devrais-je pas pouvoir connaître le nom de la
personne qui m’accuse ou est-il plus important, dans ce cas-ci,
que la balance penche en faveur de l’anonymat? Si c’est le cas,
n’irait-on pas à l’encontre de la Charte?
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Senator Kinsella: I am very glad, Senator Banks, that you
raised that issue. I think the Treasury Board people were wrong.
This is not a citizen-to-citizen private relationship we are talking
about, it is the relationship of a public servant to the public. It is a
relationship within a department of a departmental employee to
his or her department. If something wrong is occurring in the
department, the responsibility at the end of the day is the
minister’s. It is not that agent of the minister. All public servants
are agents of the minister.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Sénateur Banks, je suis très heureux que
vous ayez soulevé la question. Selon moi, les porte-parole du
Conseil du Trésor avaient tort. Il ne s’agit pas d’une affaire privée
entre deux particuliers, mais bien d’un fonctionnaire face au grand
public. L’affaire met en jeu, d’une part, un ministère et, d’autre
part, un fonctionnaire employé par ce ministère. Si quelque
chose cloche au ministère, c’est au ministre qu’en revient la
responsabilité en bout de ligne. Elle n’appartient pas à cet agent
du ministre. Tous les fonctionnaires sont des agents du ministre.

If the minister is ultimately responsible, we want the minister to
be approached by the public interest commissioner because this is
in the public interest, and the minister should be given the chance
to know what is going on in his or her department.

Si la responsabilité revient en bout de ligne au ministre, nous
souhaitons que le ministre soit approché par le commissaire de
l’intérêt public parce que c’est dans l’intérêt public et qu’il
faudrait donner au ministre la possibilité de savoir ce qui se passe
dans son ministère.

In a sense, the individual perpetrator is irrelevant. The real issue
is that all programs and actions of the corporation of the
Government of Canada must be ethical. There may be some bad
apples who are individual agents. This is why the deputy minister,
through the minister, should have the chance to solve the problem
in his or her department that may be caused by a given agent who
misunderstands his or her mandate or whatever.

En un certain sens, savoir qui a porté l’accusation comme tel
est sans pertinence. Le véritable enjeu, c’est que tous les
programmes et toutes les activités du gouvernement du Canada
soient éthiques. Il y a peut-être des pommes pourries dans le baril,
des agents individuels. C’est pourquoi le sous-ministre, par
l’intermédiaire du ministre, devrait pouvoir régler lui-même au
sein même de son ministère le problème posé par un certain agent
qui a mal compris son mandat ou je ne sais quoi encore.

Senator Finestone: A sexual harassment charge is very
debilitating to the family and to the person who is accused. I think
that was the nature of the question.

Le sénateur Finestone: Une accusation de harcèlement sexuel
cause beaucoup de tort à la famille et à la personne qui est
accusée. C’était, je crois, la nature de la question.

The Chairman: My attention was drawn to that passage also. Le président: Mon attention a également été attirée par ce
passage.

Senator Kinsella, the point that was made by the Treasury
Board representatives when they were before this committee last
May is that Bill S-13 would be subject to the provisions of the
Privacy Act, unless we decided to seek an exemption or an
exclusion from it. Then they go on to say that, under the Privacy
Act, you can protect the name of the individual making the
disclosure, from the public, but they say that no one can withhold
the name of the accuser from the accused, that the person has a
right to know the case against him and the identity of the
complainant-accuser.

Sénateur Kinsella, le point qu’ont fait valoir les représentants
du Conseil du Trésor lorsqu’ils sont venus témoigner devant le
comité en mai dernier, c’est que le projet de loi S-13 serait
assujetti aux dispositions de la Loi sur la protection de la vie
privée, à moins que nous ne décidions de demander une
exemption ou une exclusion. Ils poursuivent en affirmant qu’aux
termes de cette loi, vous pouvez protéger le nom d’une personne
divulguant les renseignements du grand public, mais que vous ne
pouvez cacher à l’accusé le nom de son accusateur, que cette
personne a le droit de connaître les faits qui lui sont reprochés et
l’identité de la personne qui fait l’allégation ou l’accusation.

You say they are wrong about that. Why do you say that? Have
you run this past the legal counsel to the Senate?

Vous dites qu’ils avaient tort. Pourquoi? Avez-vous consulté le
conseiller juridique du Sénat?

Senator Kinsella: The answer to the last question is yes. The
whole bill has been run by our legal counsel.

Le sénateur Kinsella: La réponse à cette dernière question est
oui. Nous avons soumis tous les projets de loi à notre conseiller
juridique.

I go back to what I said to Senator Banks, which is that the
proposed Public Service Whistle-blowing Act will deal with
something going wrong in a government department. The
department is responsible.

Je reviens à ce que j’ai dit au sénateur Banks, soit que le projet
de loi sur la dénonciation dans la fonction publique portera sur des
actes répréhensibles commis au sein d’un ministère. Le ministère
en est responsable.

The Chairman: Senator, what this Whistle-blowing Act will
contemplate is a situation in which an employee will blow the
whistle on another employee, possibly his or her superior in the
department, as having committed some wrongful act or omission,
defined, as you know, as:

Le président: Sénateur, ce qu’envisage comme situation le
projet de loi à l’étude, c’est le cas de l’employé qui en dénonce un
autre, peut-être même son supérieur, qui aurait commis un acte
répréhensible ou une omission que le projet de loi, comme vous le
savez, définit ainsi:

(a) an offence against any law a) il constitue une infraction à toute loi...
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(b) likely to cause a significant waste of public money; b) il risque d’entraîner un gaspillage considérable de fonds
publics;

(c) likely to endanger public health or safety or the
environment;

c) il risque de compromettre soit la santé publique, soit la
sécurité, soit l’environnement;

(d) a significant breach of an established public policy or
directive in the written record of the Public Service; or

d) il constitue un manquement à une politique ou à une
directive publique et confirmée dans les documents de la fonction
publique;

(e) one of gross mismanagement or abuse of authority. e) il constitue un cas flagrant de mauvaise gestion ou d’abus de
pouvoir.

Therefore, a public servant blows a whistle on an individual
whom he or she believes to be guilty, if I could put it that way, of
one of those transgressions.

Par conséquent, le fonctionnaire dénonce une personne qu’il
estime coupable, si je puis m’exprimer ainsi, d’un de ces actes.

The Treasury Board people who were here told us that you
cannot withhold the name of the complainant from the person in
respect of whom the whistle is blown. You say they are wrong
about that.

Les gens du Conseil du Trésor qui sont venus témoigner nous
ont dit qu’on ne peut cacher le nom du dénonciateur à la personne
dénoncée. Vous dites qu’ils ont tort.

Senator Kinsella: Yes. Le sénateur Kinsella: Oui.

The Chairman: I ask you whether, on that specific point, the
views of our counsel have been sought. If you are wrong —
heaven forbid — and the Treasury Board people are right, then
your guarantee of confidentiality is not worth very much. The
public will not know and the “blowee” will not know who the
blower is.

Le président: Je vous demande si, sur ce point particulier, on a
obtenu l’opinion du conseiller juridique. Si vous avez tort — Dieu
nous en préserve — et que le Conseil du Trésor a raison, alors
votre garantie de confidentialité ne vaut pas grand-chose. Ni le
grand public ni la personne dénoncée ne saura qui l’a dénoncée.

Senator Kinsella: The public interest commissioner who has
received the allegation will approach the department and outline
the problem or the issue. It may be the director general of a
certain program who is misinterpreting departmental policy.
Names need not be mentioned. One looks at the policy. One looks
at the effect of how it has been implemented. This is not intended
to be a witch hunt. This is intended to get the department
functioning in an ethical manner. If it is a question of a wrong
between individuals, they can then seek recourse to the civil
courts and sue each other.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Le commissaire de l’intérêt public
auquel a été faite l’allégation communiquera avec le ministère
pour exposer le problème. Il peut s’agir du directeur général d’un
programme en particulier qui a mal interprété la politique du
ministère. Il n’est pas nécessaire de mentionner des noms. Il suffit
d’examiner la politique. On voit l’effet qu’a eu sa mise en oeuvre.
Le but recherché n’est pas une chasse aux sorcières, mais bien que
les ministères respectent les principes de l’éthique. S’il s’agit
d’une question de tort entre particuliers, ils peuvent alors avoir
recours aux tribunaux civils.

If you would like to have legal counsel’s view, one of my
consultants is here. I will ask him to reflect upon this issue and to
give me a note.

Si vous souhaitez avoir l’opinion d’un conseiller juridique, un
de mes experts est ici. Je vais lui demander de réfléchir à la
question et de me remettre une note à ce sujet.

The Chairman: I do not know whether he is prepared to give
us an opinion, but we might ask the law clerk to have a look at
this. It contemplates making allegations of wrongful acts or
omissions in the workplace, in confidence, to an independent
commissioner. If you are right, there is no problem. If you are
wrong, those who are about to take advantage of this legislation
to blow the whistle ought to know that the guarantee of
confidentiality is limited.

Le président: J’ignore s’il est disposé à émettre une opinion,
mais nous pourrions demander au légiste d’examiner la question.
Des actes ou omissions répréhensibles commis en milieu de
travail sont dénoncés en toute confidence à un commissaire
indépendant. Si vous avez raison, alors il n’y a pas de problème.
Par contre, si vous avez tort, ceux qui s’apprêtent à profiter de
cette loi pour faire une dénonciation devraient savoir que la
garantie de confidentialité est limitée.

Senator Banks: On the same point, assuming confidentiality is
essential, and that we represent to a potential whistle-blower
that the act guarantees that his or her name will not be disclosed,
I am concerned that there may be a conflict in that respect
between the provisions in clause 10, and those contained in
subclause 5(2). Clause 5(2) states that the commissioner may
disclose, or may authorize any person acting on his or her behalf
to disclose information that in the commissioner’s opinion is
necessary to conduct an investigation.

Le sénateur Banks: Dans le même ordre d’idée, si l’on assume
que la confidentialité est essentielle et que nous affirmons à un
dénonciateur potentiel que la loi garantit que son nom ne sera pas
divulgué, je crains qu’il y ait un conflit sur ce plan entre les
dispositions de l’article 10 et celles du paragraphe 5(2). Le
paragraphe 5(2) stipule que le commissaire peut divulguer, ou
autoriser les personnes agissant en son nom ou sous son autorité à
divulguer les renseignements qui, à son avis, sont nécessaires à la
tenue d’une enquête.
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I can see a circumstance in my perhaps too fertile imagination
in which a commissioner might determine that, in a particular
instance, the identity of the accuser is so important to the question
at hand that he releases it. It seems to me that this bill authorizes
him or her to do that. Clause 10 states:

Mon imagination est peut-être trop fertile, mais je peux très
bien voir une situation où le commissaire pourrait déterminer que,
dans un cas particulier, l’identité de l’accusateur est si importante,
dans le contexte, qu’il la divulgue. Il me semble que ce projet de
loi l’autorise à le faire. L’article 10 dit bien que:

Subject to any lawful requirement made of the Commis-
sioner under this Act or any law in force in Canada, the
Commissioner shall keep confidential...”

Sous réserve de toute obligation légale qui lui est imposée
par la loi ou toute autre loi en vigueur au Canada, le
commissaire est tenu de garder confidentielle[...]

However, the commissioner will be authorized by the passage
of this bill to release information, which information does not
preclude the name of the accuser. This may be a fine detail, but
we might want to consider it. If the bill purports to provide
confidentiality, this may be a chink.

Cependant, le commissaire sera autorisé, avec l’adoption de ce
projet de loi, à divulguer de l’information, laquelle n’exclut pas le
nom de l’accusateur. C’est peut-être un très petit détail, mais nous
devrions peut-être y réfléchir. Si le projet de loi prétend protéger
la confidentialité des renseignements, ceci pourrait y être une
faille.

Senator Kinsella: Clause 5 states that the public interest
commissioner may release information subject to clause 10. It
reads:

Le sénateur Kinsella: Cet article 5 stipule que le commissaire
de l’intérêt public peut divulguer de l’information sous réserve de
l’article 10. Il dit bien:

Subject to section 10, the Commissioner may make
public any information that comes to the attention of the
Commissioner as a result of the performance or exercise of
the Commissioner’s duties or powers under this Act if, in the
Commissioner’s opinion, it is in the public interest to do so.

Sous réserve de l’article 10, s’il estime que l’intérêt
public le justifie, le commissaire peut rendre publics les
renseignements dont il prend connaissance dans l’exercice
des pouvoirs et fonctions qui lui sont conférés en vertu de la
présente loi.

Clause 10 reads: À l’article 10, on lit:

Subject to any lawful requirement made of the
Commissioner under this Act or any law in force in Canada,
the Commissioner shall keep confidential the identity of an
employee who has filed a notice with the Commissioner...

Sous réserve de toute obligation légale qui lui est imposée
par la présente loi ou toute autre loi en vigueur au Canada, le
commissaire est tenu de garder confidentielle l’identité du
fonctionnaire qui lui a présenté une dénonciation...

Senator Banks: My question is a legal one, and I am not a
lawyer. I do not believe that clause 5(1) which states, “Subject to
section 10...” governs clause 5(2) which does not contain that
preamble. I think that clause 5(2) stands on its own and is not
restricted by the provisions contained in clause 10. That restriction
applies only to clause 5(1). If I were a lawyer, I would argue that
clause 5(2) is not subject to clause 10.

Le sénateur Banks: La question que je pose est d’ordre
juridique, et je ne suis pas avocat. Je ne crois pas que le
paragraphe 5(1), où on lit «Sous réserve de l’article 10...»
assujettisse le paragraphe 5(2), qui ne contient pas ce préambule.
Je pense que le paragraphe 5(2) est indépendant et n’est pas
limité par les dispositions de l’article 10. Cette restriction ne
s’applique qu’au paragraphe 5(1). Si j’étais avocat, je dirais que
le paragraphe 5(2) n’est pas assujetti à l’article 10.

My last question relates to clause 12(5), which covers the
situation where the commissioner has found that an accusation is
frivolous or vexatious. In that event, the commissioner may
disclose to the person who has been accused or to the minister, or
whomever else, the fact that such an accusation has been made.

Ma dernière question concerne le paragraphe 12(5), qui traite
de la situation où le commissaire conclut que l’objet de la
dénonciation est trivial ou frivole. Dans ce cas, le commissaire
peut divulguer à la personne qui a fait l’objet de l’accusation au
ministre, ou à quiconque d’autre, le fait qu’une telle accusation a
été portée contre elle.

Would that disclosure include the identity of the accuser? In
other words, would he merely disclose the fact that an accusation
has been made, or would he name the person who made the
accusation?

Est-ce que cette information englobe l’identité de l’accusateur?
Autrement dit, est-ce qu’il ne ferait que divulguer le fait qu’une
accusation a été portée, ou désignerait-il l’auteur de l’accusation?

Senator Kinsella: It would depend on whether it would be in
the public interest to make that disclosure. For instance, if there
were an allegation of a problem involving the Department of
Transport which affected safety, and that allegation, although
made in good faith was in fact erroneous, and the system did work
well, then it would be in the public interest to make that clear. It is
important that the public interest commissioner would tell, say, the
deputy minister or the director, that the way this is being

Le sénateur Kinsella: Cela dépendrait s’il est de l’intérêt
public de le divulguer. Par exemple, s’il s’agissait d’une allégation
au sujet d’un problème concernant le ministère des Transports qui
touchait la sécurité, et que cette allégation, même faite de bonne
foi, était en fait erronée et que le système fonctionnait bien, il
serait de l’intérêt public de le dire clairement. Il est important que
le commissaire de l’intérêt public dise, supposons au sous-ministre
ou au directeur, que la manière dont ceci est interprété n’est pas
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interpreted is not clear. It is not necessary to identify who raised
the issue.

claire. Il n’est pas nécessaire de donner le nom de la personne qui
a soulevé le doute.

Senator Banks: But it may. Does clause 12(5) permit the
commissioner to tell the deputy minister that Fred over there or
Louise has made a false accusation, however well-intentioned?

Le sénateur Banks: Mais c’est possible. Est-ce que le
paragraphe 12(5) permet au commissaire de dire au sous-ministre
que Fred, là-bas ou Louise a porté une fausse accusation, que ce
soit ou non avec de bonnes intentions?

Senator Kinsella: That is not the intent. There may be a
circumstance where a name may be critical. The word “may” has
been inserted to allow for that kind of discretion.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Ce n’est pas le but visé. Il pourrait y
avoir des circonstances où il serait essentiel de divulguer un nom.
Le terme «peut» a été mis là pour laisser la place à un tel
jugement.

The thrust of my questions has to do with confidentiality. Is it,
in fact, always guaranteed? If it is not, we must be careful not to
say that confidentiality is always guaranteed. Confidentiality is to
be maintained, but there are those circumstances, if there is
criminal wrongdoing, when it is not in the public interest
to maintain confidentiality. This is why the public interest
commissioner must be a person with a high office who, with an
eye to the public interest, may decide that this is of such offence
to the public interest that the Attorney General should be advised,
and disclose the name of the person who might be charged.

Là je veux en venir, avec ma question, c’est au concept de
confidentialité. La confidentialité est-elle réellement toujours
garantie? Si elle ne l’est pas, nous devons faire bien attention à
ne pas dire que la confidentialité est toujours garantie. La
confidentialité doit être préservée, mais il y a des circonstances,
lorsqu’il y a faute criminelle, où il n’est pas de l’intérêt public de
préserver la confidentialité. C’est pourquoi le commissaire de
l’intérêt public doit être un haut fonctionnaire qui, pour protéger
l’intérêt public, peut décider qu’il s’agit d’une telle violation de
l’intérêt public que le procureur général devrait en être avisé, et
dévoiler le nom de la personne qui pourrait être accusée.

However, that is not his objective. His objective is not to
enforce the Criminal Code, it is to provide this vehicle for
wrongdoing or unethical conduct to be resolved within the
department. I should think that, as with human rights cases,
99 per cent of the cases will be resolved at the conciliatory level.

Cependant, ce n’est pas son objectif. Le but visé n’est pas
d’appliquer le Code criminel, mais plutôt de constituer un moyen
de résoudre les problèmes de faute ou de conduite, au ministère,
qui soit contraire à l’éthique. J’ai idée que, comme pour les cas
qui concernent les droits de la personne, 99 p. 100 des dossiers
seraient résolus au niveau de la conciliation.

Senator Comeau: Would the honourable senator clarify the
meaning of clause 12(1), which states that no further action will
be taken if the notice breaches subclause 9(4), which I understand
refers to solicitor-client privilege? What does that mean?
Clause 12(1) refers to the commissioner taking no further action if
the notice breaches subclause 9.(4). Is that correct?

Le sénateur Comeau: L’honorable sénateur voudrait-il clarifier
le sens du paragraphe 12(1), qui dit que le commissaire clôt le
dossier s’il conclut que la dénonciation a été faite en violation du
paragraphe 9(4) qui, si je comprends bien, concerne la protection
des communications entre un avocat et son client? Qu’est-ce que
cela signifie? Le paragraphe 12(1) stipule que le commissaire clôt
le dossier s’il remarque une violation au paragraphe 9(4). Est-ce
bien cela?

Senator Kinsella: Yes. Le sénateur Kinsella: Oui.

Senator Comeau: Do I understand correctly that, if it involves
a question of safety or health, this does not apply?

Le sénateur Comeau: Dois-je comprendre que, s’il y a motif
d’inquiétude pour la santé ou la sécurité, ceci ne s’applique pas?

Senator Kinsella: Yes. Le sénateur Kinsella: Oui.

Senator Comeau:What does that mean? Le sénateur Comeau: Qu’est-ce que cela signifie?

Senator Kinsella: It means that if an officer of a given
department is dealing with someone else, but what he is engaged
in is illegal, that relationship, which may be similar to a
solicitor-client relationship, does not shield him from the
application of the act. One cannot hide behind it. If one filed an
allegation with the commissioner, that would not be an offence
against whatever professional standard exists.

Le sénateur Kinsella: C’est que si l’agent d’un ministère
donné traite avec quelqu’un d’autre, mais que ce qu’il fait est
illégal, cette relation, qui peut être semblable à celle d’un avocat
avec son client, ne le protège pas contre l’application de la loi.
Personne ne peut se cacher derrière elle. La présentation
d’allégations au commissaire ne serait pas une violation de
quelconques normes professionnelles en vigueur.

Senator Comeau: That is not a question of safety and health. I
am not sure if CSIS comes under the Public Service Commission,
but what about the question of national security? Should it not
also be included as one of these items that we may not want to
make public?

Le sénateur Comeau: Ce n’est pas une question de santé et de
sécurité. Je ne suis pas sûr que le CSRS soit régi par la
Commission de la fonction publique, mais qu’en est-il de la
sécurité nationale? Est-ce que ça ne devrait pas figurer au nombre
de ces choses que nous ne voudrions peut-être pas voir divulgués?

Senator Kinsella: I should think that, whatever the appropriate
legislation is that governs CSIS —

Le sénateur Kinsella: Je présume que, quelle soit la loi qui
régisse le CSRS...
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Senator Comeau: It would override this? Le sénateur Comeau: Elle aurait préséance sur celle-ci?

Senator Kinsella: They did file a complaint — and this is
where confidentiality is obviously very important — so that one
could not take action against a person for having breached the
confidentiality under the CSIS Act.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Ils ont effectivement déposé une plainte
— et c’est là où la confidentialité est, de toute évidence, très
importante — pour que personne ne puisse prendre des mesures
contre une personne qui a violé la confidentialité de l’information
en vertu de la Loi sur le CSRS.

Senator Comeau: Because of the highly sensitive nature
of what an employee has reported to the Public Service
Commissioner, or the commissioner in this case, should the
commissioner be asked to take an oath of secrecy as well? He
could be privy to extremely sensitive information of a national
security nature.

Le sénateur Comeau: Étant donné la nature hautement
sensible de ce qu’un employé a dévoilé au Commissaire de la
fonction publique, ou le Commissaire de l’intérêt public dans ce
cas-ci, est-ce que ce commissaire ne devrait pas, lui aussi, faire
serment de discrétion? Il pourrait être mis au courant de
renseignements extrêmement délicats concernant la sécurité
nationale.

Senator Kinsella: This is why we give this authority to the
Public Service Commissioner, who is at the “secret” level of
clearance in that capacity.

Le sénateur Kinsella: C’est pourquoi nous attribuons ce
pouvoir au Commissaire de la fonction publique qui, à ce titre, a
une attestation sécuritaire de niveau «secret».

Your point raises this issue, namely, that we feel some kind of
framework is needed within which unethical and illegal conduct
must be brought forward and dealt with — not in an effort to try
to crucify anyone, or to try to undermine any program, or to try to
undermine the minister, but to allow the minister to know what is
happening in his or her own department and to have a mechanism
where the issue can be resolved within the department. It will not
be a sufficient shield to hide behind to say, “I work for foreign
affairs and I take certain oaths. I will not tell you anything.”
Behind the cloak of secrecy, unethical and illegal activities can
occur that may be of greater concern to the public interest.

Votre question fait ressortir ce problème, ce besoin que nous
ressentons d’une espèce de cadre au sein duquel une conduite
contraire à l’éthique et illégale doit être révélée et qu’il y soit
donné suite — absolument pas dans le but de crucifier qui que ce
soit, ou de miner un programme quelconque ou le ministre, mais
plutôt pour permettre au ministre de savoir ce qui se passe dans
son ministère et d’avoir un mécanisme qui permettrait la
résolution du problème au sein du ministère. Ce ne sera pas un
bouclier assez grand pour se cacher et dire: «Je travaille pour les
Affaires extérieures et j’ai fait certains serments. Je ne vous dirai
rien.» Sous le couvert du secret, des actes contraires à l’éthique et
illégaux peuvent avoir lieu, qui pourraient susciter de plus grandes
préoccupations sur le plan de l’intérêt public.

Senator Comeau: If a hit squad is put into place, it might all
come out in the wash.

Le sénateur Comeau: Si un commando était mis sur place, ça
pourrait sortir tout seul au grand jour avec le reste.

Senator Kinsella: Yes. Le sénateur Kinsella: Oui.

The Chairman: Senators, are you ready to proceed to
clause-by-clause consideration of this bill? Some matters have
been raised here in respect of which we can ask for and we may
or may not receive, depending upon whether he considers it
proper or not, some comment from the Law Clerk of the Senate.
None of the matters that have been raised suggests that there is a
fatal flaw in the legislation.

Le président: Chers sénateurs, êtes-vous prêts à procéder à
l’étude article par article de ce projet de loi? Certaines questions
ont été soulevées ici au sujet desquelles nous pourrions recevoir
ou non, selon qu’il le jugera pertinent ou non, des commentaires
du juriste du Sénat. Aucune des questions soulevées ne laisse
entendre qu’il y ait une faille fatale dans le projet de loi.

Senator Kinsella: One of my key advisers on this bill is the
legal counsel who worked on the drafting of the bill. For the
clarity of the members of the committee, perhaps I could ask him
to explicate the technical point that was important to honourable
senators.

Le sénateur Kinsella: L’un de mes principaux conseillers, au
sujet de ce projet loi, est le conseiller juridique qui a travaillé à la
rédaction du projet de loi. Pour que ce soit plus clair pour
les membres du comité, peut-être pourrais-je lui demander
d’expliquer l’aspect technique que les honorables sénateurs ont
trouvé important.

The Chairman: Mr. Carson, did you hear Senator Banks’
question about the observations of the Treasury Board people
when they were appeared before the committee?

Le président: Monsieur Carson, avez-vous entendu la question
du sénateur Banks au sujet des observations des gens du Conseil
du Trésor, lorsqu’ils ont comparu devant le comité?

Mr. Bruce Carson, Policy Adviser, Conservative Caucus:
Yes, I had the opportunity to discuss this with Mr. Mark Audcent,
the lead drafter of the bill, after Senator Banks asked his question.
The response that I received from Mr. Audcent was that this bill
would be right in conjunction with the Privacy Act and the Access
to Information Act. Therefore, those acts would be subject to the

M. Bruce Carson, conseiller en politiques, Caucus
conservateur: Oui, j’ai eu l’occasion de m’entretenir de ce sujet
avec M. Mark Audcent, le principal rédacteur du projet de loi,
après que le sénateur Banks ait posé sa question. La réponse que
j’ai reçue de M. Audcent est que ce projet de loi serait appliqué
tout à fait conjointement avec la Loi sur la protection de la vie
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specific provision in this bill that deal with the issue of
confidentiality. The identity of the person who is making the
complaint would not be released under either one of those statutes.

privée et la Loi sur la protection des renseignements.
Par conséquent, ces lois seraient assujetties aux dispositions
spécifiques de ce projet de loi qui traitent de la confidentialité.
Aucune de ces deux lois ne permettrait de divulguer l’identité du
plaignant.

The Chairman: It would not be released even to the person
against whom the complaint is made?

Le président: Elle ne serait même pas dévoilée à la personne
contre qui la plainte a été déposée?

Mr. Carson: That is right. M. Carson: C’est bien cela.

Senator Banks: Pardon my ignorance, but where does it say
that, and how are we to be certain that this bill and its provisions
would override the Privacy Act? Did I understand you to say that?

Le sénateur Banks: Excusez mon ignorance, mais où est-ce
que c’est écrit, et comment pouvons-nous être sûrs que ce projet
de loi et ses dispositions auraient préséance sur la Loi sur la
protection de la vie privée? Ai-je bien compris que c’est ce que
vous avez dit?

The Chairman: He is reporting Mr. Audcent as having said
that there is an implied exemption from the Privacy Act and/or the
Access to Information Act. There is an implied exemption in here,
is that correct?

Le président: Ce qu’il dit, c’est que M. Audcent lui a dit qu’il
y a exemption implicite des dispositions de la Loi sur la protection
de la vie privée et de la Loi sur l’accès à l’information. Il y a bien
une exemption implicite, n’est-ce pas?

Mr. Carson: That is basically what Mr. Audcent reported to
me. As this statue was later in time than the other two that are
being put in place, the way it is worded in clause 10 would
specifically exclude the release of that information under this bill.

M. Carson: C’est en gros ce que m’a dit M. Audcent. Comme
cette loi est postérieure aux deux autres qui sont en vigueur, la
manière dont l’article 10 est formulé exclurait spécifiquement la
divulgation de cette information en vertu de cette loi.

The Chairman: I would have thought that there was a
provision in the Privacy Act or the Access to Information Act that
would say something along the lines of, “This governs all
legislation unless there is an explicit exemption.“ That was the
point that our friends from the Treasury Board made when they
were here. They said that it was understood that Bill S-13 would
be subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act, unless it
is intended to seek exemption or exclusion from the said
application. Mr. Audcent believes that these provisions will
operate notwithstanding the Privacy Act or the Access to
Information Act, and that there is an implicit exemption in here.

Le président: J’aurais pensé qu’il y avait une disposition dans
la Loi sur la protection de la vie privée ou la Loi sur l’accès à
l’information qui dirait quelque chose du genre «Ceci a préséance
sur toutes les lois, à moins d’exemption explicite». C’est là que
voulaient en venir nos amis du Conseil du Trésor lorsqu’ils ont
témoigné devant nous. Ils ont dit qu’il était clair que le projet de
loi S-13 s’appliquerait sous réserve des dispositions de la Loi sur
la protection de la vie privée, à moins qu’elle vise à obtenir
l’exemption ou l’exclusion d’une telle application. M. Audcent
croit que ces dispositions seront en vigueur malgré la Loi sur la
protection de la vie privée ou la Loi sur l’accès à l’information, et
qu’il y a une exemption implicite là-dedans.

Senator Finestone: May I remind you that the Privacy Act
does not cover the public sector, which is why I made my opening
remarks. That is why this is very important. In the interest of
equity and fairness, I suggest that workers in Canada, irrespective
of who their employers are — with concerns about exceptions
that are legal under the law, should definitely not be treated
differently. I think that is the issue.

Le sénateur Finestone: Puis-je vous rappeler que la Loi sur la
protection de la vie privée ne touche pas le secteur public, et c’est
pourquoi j’ai fait mes remarques préliminaires. C’est pourquoi
ceci est très important. Dans l’intérêt de l’équité et de la justice, je
suggère que les travailleurs du Canada, quel que soit leur
employeur — a part les exceptions prévues par la loi —, ne
devraient absolument pas être traités différemment. Je pense que
c’est cela, l’enjeu.

The Chairman: You make an interesting point because the
representatives from Treasury Board say it is understood that
Bill S-13, which is the former number given to this bill, would be
subject to the provisions of the Privacy Act, unless it is intended
to seek exemption or exclusion from the said application.

Le président: Vous soulevez là un point intéressant, parce que
les représentants du Conseil du Trésor disent qu’il est clair que le
projet de loi S-13 — c’est l’ancien numéro donné à ce projet de
loi —, serait assujetti aux dispositions de la Loi sur la protection
de la vie privée, à moins qu’il vise à obtenir l’exemption ou
l’exclusion de ladite application.

Senator Finestone: How can it be? Le sénateur Finestone: Comment cela se peut-il?

The Chairman: Perhaps we should ask them. Le président: Peut-être devrions-nous le leur demander.

Senator Finestone: Frankly, I would like to see the Treasury
Board people have a level of comfort that we are not going in a
direction that counters any sense of cohesion or sense of
the development of ethics and values within the workforce.
Irrespective of the difficulty they are having with language to

Le sénateur Finestone: Très franchement, j’aimerais bien
rassurer les gens du Conseil du Trésor que nous n’allons pas
adopter une orientation qui nuirait à la cohésion, ou au sens du
développement de l’éthique et des valeurs au sein de la
main-d’oeuvre. Abstraction faite de la difficulté qu’ils éprouvent à



27-2-2001 Finances nationales 1:25

drive ethics and values, which is what I got out of their
presentation here, I think that Canada has ethics and values that
are worthy of promotion. I think they are fairly well understood at
a gut level, let alone any other level, irrespective of how they are
written.

définir l’éthique et les valeurs, et c’est d’ailleurs pourquoi je suis
partie pendant leur présentation, je pense que le Canada a une
éthique et des valeurs qui sont dignes d’éloges. Je pense qu’elles
sont assez bien comprises de façon viscérale, et encore mieux à
tout autre niveau, quelle que soit la façon dont elles sont écrites.

Canadians do not want people to go against the laws of the land
and they do not want people to be committing acts that are not
acceptable to the Canadian ethic and value structure. I do not
know that this is anything different here.

Les Canadiens ne veulent pas que les gens aillent à l’encontre
des lois du pays et ils ne veulent pas que quiconque commette des
actes qui ne sont pas acceptables dans le cadre de l’éthique et des
valeurs du Canada. Je ne vois de différence ici.

There is a whole set-up in the new Personal Information and
Privacy Act that takes into account the Canadian Standards Act,
which has 10 definitions, and each definition has a subclause
attached to it. All these are subject to the whistle-blowing
provisions that are included in that act under section 27(1). It
makes it very clear that any person who has reasonable grounds to
believe that a person has contravened or intends to contravene a
provision of the CSA model Division 1 may notify the
commissioner — this is the Privacy Commissioner, so it is another
step — of the particulars of the matter and may request that their
identity be kept confidential with respect to the notification.

Il y a toute une partie des nouvelles lois sur la protection des
renseignements personnels et de la vie privée qui traite de la loi
canadienne sur les normes, qui comporte dix définitions, et chaque
définition est assortie d’un sous-alinéa. Toutes sont assujetties aux
dispositions sur la dénonciation que renferme cette loi, au
paragraphe 27(1). Il y est très clairement dit que quiconque a des
motifs raisonnables de croire qu’une autre personne a contrevenu
à l’une des dispositions de la section 1 de la Loi sur les normes,
ou a l’intention d’y contrevenir, peut notifier au commissaire — il
s’agit du Commissaire à la protection de la vie privée, donc c’est
une autre étape — les détails sur la question et exiger l’anonymat
relativement à cette dénonciation.

The Chairman: Excuse me. When you say the Privacy Act
does not apply to the public sector, you are talking about what we
call Bill C-6, as passed in the last session.

Le président: Excusez-moi. Lorsque vous dites que la Loi sur
la protection de la vie privée ne s’applique pas au secteur public,
vous parlez de ce que nous appelons le projet de loi C-6, qui a été
adopté à la dernière législature.

Senator Finestone: You and I had some concern about that
bill. I did get your note. Thank you very much. You are right. It is
becomes more and more curious.

Le sénateur Finestone: Vous et moi avions certaines
préoccupations au sujet de ce projet de loi. J’ai reçu votre note. Je
vous en remercie. Vous avez raison. C’est de plus en plus curieux.

The Chairman: They are talking here about another act, not
that act. It is possibly the statute that created the position of
Commissioner for Privacy.

Le président: Ils parlent ici d’une autre loi, pas de celle-là.
C’est peut-être la loi qui a créé le poste de Commissaire à la
protection de la vie privée.

Senator Finestone: Are you referring to what I just read? Le sénateur Finestone: Est-ce que vous parlez de ce que je
viens de lire?

The Chairman: You just read from Bill C-6. A statute existed
prior to that act coming into force, and that statute protects the
privacy of citizens from the idle curiosity of governments and
other public agencies. That statute, among other things, created
the position of Commissioner of Privacy, which was held by
Bruce Phillips and is now held by George Radwanski. The
Treasury Board people are saying this bill will be subject to that
act, which does relate to the public sector.

Le président: Vous venez de lire un extrait du projet de
loi C-6. Une loi existait déjà avant que celle-là entre en vigueur, et
cette loi protège la vie privée des citoyens de la curiosité oisive
des gouvernements et autres organismes publics. Cette loi, entre
autre, a créé le poste de commissaire à la protection de la vie
privée, qu’a occupé Bruce Phillips et qu’occupe maintenant
George Radwanski. Les gens du Conseil du Trésor disent que ce
projet de loi sera assujetti à cette loi, qui touche effectivement le
secteur public.

Senator Banks: Exactly. Le sénateur Banks: Exactement.

Senator Finestone: I hear you, but I think it does not. Le sénateur Finestone: Je comprends ce que vous dites, mais
je ne le pense pas.

The Chairman: I know from private discussions with the
deputy chair and with others that it was the disposition of the
committee to proceed to clause-by-clause examination today. We
can still do that. None of the problems or concerns that have been
expressed point to a fatal legal flaw. Nevertheless, Senator
Kinsella, we are at the beginning of a new session of Parliament.
Do you think it would be worth it for us to take the time to
canvass this matter certainly with our own Law Clerk and
possibly with those people from Treasury Board on that point?

Le président: Je sais, d’après des entretiens que j’ai eus en
privé avec le vice-président et d’autres personnes, que le comité
comptait aujourd’hui procéder à l’étude article par article du
projet de loi. Nous pouvons encore le faire. Aucun des problèmes,
ni aucune des préoccupations qui ont été exprimés n’indique une
faille fatale d’ordre juridique. Néanmoins, sénateur Kinsella, nous
n’en sommes qu’au début d’une nouvelle session parlementaire.
Pensez-vous qu’il vaudrait mieux que nous prenions le temps
d’examiner minutieusement la question avec notre propre légiste
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The key point is whether there is an implicit exemption, as
Mr. Audcent suggests.

et, peut-être, avec les gens du Conseil du Trésor, à ce sujet? La
question centrale est de déterminer s’il y a exemption implicite
comme le prétend M. Audcent.

Senator Kinsella: Mr. Chairman, I would want all honourable
members of this committee to be comfortable that we have
analyzed the bill as carefully as we possibly can. If further study is
required by the committee, we should undertake further study.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Monsieur le président, je tiens à assurer
à tous les honorables membres de ce comité que nous avons
analysé le projet de loi aussi minutieusement qu’il était possible
de le faire. Cependant, si le comité juge nécessaire de l’étudier
plus en profondeur, il le faut.

The Chairman: Could I take the committee clause-by-clause
up to a certain point and leave the title and clause 1 until another
meeting? You could have one of your colleagues move the two
technical amendments that you are proposing. We would complete
most of the clause-by-clause examination, but we would not pass
the clauses in question. That might become too complex. I was
thinking out loud, and not very coherently, as it turns out.

Le président: Est-ce que je peux vous proposer de procéder à
l’étude article par article jusqu’à un certain point, et de remettre
l’examen du titre et du premier article à une autre séance? Vous
pourriez demander à l’un de vos collègues de proposer les deux
amendements techniques que vous suggérez. Nous pourrions faire
la plus grande partie de l’examen article par article, mais nous ne
traiterions pas des articles en question. Cela pourrait devenir trop
complexe. Je réfléchissais tout haut, et pas de façon très
cohérente, j’en ai peur.

Senator Cools: Chairman, Senator Kinsella has said that he
thinks the committee should give the subject the proper
consideration. I know that we are eager to move on with the bill,
but one more meeting could perhaps satisfy these particular
concerns. I think it is better to proceed in that way than to proceed
clause-by-clause in a piecemeal way.

Le sénateur Cools: Monsieur le président, le sénateur Kinsella
a dit qu’il pense que le comité devrait réfléchir comme il se doit à
la question. Je sais que nous sommes pressés d’aller de l’avant
avec ce projet de loi, mais une autre séance pourrait permettre,
peut-être, de soulager ces préoccupations particulières. Je pense
qu’il vaut mieux procéder ainsi que de faire l’étude article par
article pêle-mêle.

The Chairman: As soon as possible, let us arrange to have the
Law Clerk here to discuss this bill. I do not think we need to go to
Treasury Board people unless the Law Clerk gives us information
that we feel would require that.

Le président: Organisons-nous pour que le juriste puisse venir
le plus tôt possible ici discuter de ce projet de loi. Je ne pense pas
que nous ayons besoin de nous adresser aux gens du Conseil du
Trésor, à moins que le juriste nous donne des informations qui,
selon nous, le nécessiteraient.

Senator Cools: I do think, Mr. Chairman, in the interests of the
proper usage of time, that we should have the Treasury Board
people on stand-by in case we want to ask them something. Then
we would not have to go over to another day. We do not have to
call them, but we should have them on stand-by.

Le sénateur Cools: Je pense cependant, monsieur le président,
que dans l’intérêt d’une utilisation adéquate du temps, nous
devrions demander aux gens du Conseil du Trésor d’être prêts à
venir, au cas où nous ayons quelque chose à leur demander. Ainsi,
nous n’aurions pas besoin de reporter la discussion à un autre jour.
Nous n’avons pas besoin de les faire venir, mais au moins, ils
devraient être prêts à le faire.

I had one little question that was prompted by the whole notion
of confidentiality. I was not a member of the Senate special
committee on the Pearson matters, but I believe some senators
here were. I do remember reading some of the testimony and
having a great sense of alarm at some of the testimony that was
given. In particular, I do not know if Senator Kinsella or Senator
LeBreton remember, but there was testimony from the Deputy
Minister of Justice, Mr. George Thompson at the time. I could be
very wrong because I have not looked at this for many years, but
it seems to me that he presented an approach to the subject-matter
that essentially said that, since the Department of Justice people
were lawyers, any advice they gave to anyone was within a
solicitor-client relationship and that, somehow or other, the
majority of government were the clients of the Department of
Justice and, consequently, they were all able to be bound by the
concept of solicitor-client privilege. I see one of the members who
served on that committee smiling. All of that is a code for saying
that they have to tell us nothing.

J’avais une petite question à poser, qui m’est venue à l’esprit
avec toute cette notion de confidentialité. Je n’étais pas membre
du Comité sénatorial spécial sur les affaires Pearson, mais il me
semble que certains sénateurs qui sont ici l’étaient. Je me rappelle
avoir lu des témoignages et avoir été très alarmée par certains
d’entre eux. En particulier, je ne sais pas si le sénateur Kinsella ou
le sénateur LeBreton s’en rappelle, mais il y avait le témoignage
du sous-ministre de la Justice, M. George Thompson à l’époque.
Je pourrais très bien me tromper, parce que je n’ai pas étudié la
question depuis de nombreuses années, mais il me semble qu’il a
présenté un tableau de la situation qui, en fait, revenait à dire que,
puisque les employés du ministère de la Justice étaient des
avocats, tout conseil qu’ils pouvaient donner à quiconque était
protégé par la relation de l’avocat avec son client et que, d’une
façon ou d’une autre, la majorité des employés du gouvernement
étaient clients du ministère de la Justice et, par conséquent, ils
pouvaient tous être liés par le concept de la relation de l’avocat
avec son client. Je vois sourire l’un des membres de ce comité.
Tout cela pour dire qu’ils ne sont tenus de rien divulguer.
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Within the aspect of confidentiality, does this bill, Senator
Kinsella, addresses those kinds of problems?

À ce propos de confidentialité, est-ce que ce projet de loi,
sénateur Kinsella, traite de ce genre de problèmes?

Senator Kinsella: Just to the point that, in the processing of an
allegation by the public interest commissioner, one cannot hide
behind client-solicitor privilege. It would be just to that extent.

Le sénateur Kinsella: Dans la mesure seulement où,
lorsqu’une allégation est notifiée au Commissaire de l’intérêt
public, personne ne peut se cacher derrière le privilège de
protection des relations entre un avocat et son client. Dans cette
mesure seulement.

Senator Cools: Your understanding and your intention is that
no wrongdoing is to be shielded.

Le sénateur Cools: À ce que vous comprenez, et votre but,
c’est qu’aucune faute ne peut être cachée.

Senator Kinsella: Exactly. Le sénateur Kinsella: Exactement.

Senator Cools: That is a good point to make. Le sénateur Cools: C’est un bon argument à soulever.

The Chairman: Will we wind this up at our next meeting at
5:45? We may be able to meet when the Senate rises.

Le président: Est-ce que nous en terminerons avec cette
question à notre prochaine réunion, à 17 h 45? Nous pourrions
peut-être nous réunir à la clôture de la séance du Sénat.

Senator Cools: The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs will be meeting at that time.

Le sénateur Cools: Le comité sénatorial permanent des affaires
légales et constitutionnelles doit se réunir à cette heure-là.

The Chairman: Various meeting will be going on. We will
meet at 5:45 p.m. tomorrow.

Le président: Plusieurs comités se réuniront à ce moment-là.
Nous nous réunissons donc à 17 h 45 demain.

I have received letters on the subject of whether our committee
can meet when the Senate rises on Wednesdays. That, however, is
a matter for the whips who really have the say on these matters. In
the event that they agree to that, our time slot on Wednesdays will
be when the Senate rises rather than at 5:45 p.m. We will leave the
whips to work that out. However, tomorrow our meeting will be at
5:45, unless you hear differently. At that time we will wind this
up. Mr. Audcent will be here, and we will ask representatives
from Treasury Board to stand by as well.

J’ai reçu des lettres au sujet de la possibilité pour notre comité
de se réunir après la levée de la séance du Sénat les mercredis.
C’est en fait aux whips de décider de ce genre de choses.
Si jamais ils en conviennent, notre créneau horaire, le
mercredi, serait après la clôture de la séance du Sénat plutôt
qu’à 17 h 45. Nous laisserons les whips régler cette question.
Cependant, demain, notre réunion aura lieu à 17 h 45, à moins
d’indication contraire. Nous en terminerons alors avec cette
question. M. Audcent sera ici, et nous demanderons aux
représentants du Conseil du Trésor d’être prêts à venir au besoin.

Senators, I will adjourn the meeting now and ask you to stay for
a moment, please, for an in camera session. We have some future
business to discuss.

Chers sénateurs, je vais maintenant déclarer la séance levée,
mais je vous prie de rester un moment pour poursuivre à huis clos.
Nous avons d’autres choses à discuter.

The committee continued in camera. La séance se poursuit à huis clos.
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